
1 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

June 22, 2023 
5:30 P.M. 

CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1 
ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA  

OAKLAND, CA 94612 

AGENDA 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
The public may observe or participate in this meeting in many ways. 

OBSERVE: 
• To observe, the public may view the televised video conference by viewing KTOP
channel 10 on Xfinity (Comcast) or ATT Channel 99 and locating City of Oakland
KTOP – Channel 10
• To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on the link below:
When: Jun 22, 2023 05:30 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada)
Topic: HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD FULL
BOARD SPECIAL MEETING- June 22, 2023
Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89408345200
Or One tap mobile : +16694449171,,89408345200# US, +16699009128,
89408345200# US (San Jose)
Or Telephone: Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current
location): +1 669 444 9171 US, +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose), +1 253 205 0468
US, +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma), +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston), +1 719 359
4580 US, +1 309 205 3325 US, +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago), +1 360 209 5623
US, +1 386 347 5053 US, +1 507 473 4847 US, +1 564 217 2000 US, +1 646 558
8656 US (New York), +1 646 931 3860 US, +1 689 278 1000 US, +1 301 715
8592 US (Washington DC) +1 305 224 1968 US
Webinar ID: 894 0834 5200
    International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kBTWZNWcL 

The Zoom link is to view/listen to the meeting only, not for participation.  

PARTICIPATION/COMMENT: 
There is one way to submit public comments: 
• To participate/comment during the meeting, you must attend in-person.
Comments on all agenda items will be taken during public comment at the
beginning of the meeting. Comments for items not on the agenda will be taken
during open forum towards the end of the meeting.

If you have any questions, please email hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov. 

000001

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89408345200
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kBTWZNWcL
mailto:hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov


2 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD MEETING 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL

3. PUBLIC COMMENT

a. Comments on all agenda items will be taken at this time. Comments
for items not on the agenda will be taken during open forum.

4. CONSENT ITEMS

a. Approval of Board Minutes, 5/11/2023 (pp. 3-9)

5. APPEALS*

a. T23-0019, Barragan et al. v. Mead Holding LLC (pp. 51-149)

6. RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND AMENDMENTS TO THE
RENT ADJUSTMENT REGULATIONS (pp. 10-50)

7. AUTHORIZATION FOR CHAIR INGRAM & MEMBER DEBOER
TO PRESENT TENANT FILING REQUIREMENT RESOLUTION
TO CITY COUNCIL

8. AUTHORIZATION FOR CHAIR INGRAM TO SPEAK ON
BEHALD OF HRRRB IN SUPPORT OF CONTRACT FOR
OWNER REPRESENTATION AT RAP/HRRRB PROCEEDINGS

9. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

10. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS

a. Board Meeting Start Times

11. OPEN FORUM

12. ADJOURNMENT

*Staff appeal summaries will be available at the Rent Program website and the Clerk’s office at

least 72 hours prior to the meeting pursuant to O.M.C. 2.20.080.C and 2.20.090

As a reminder, alternates in attendance (other than those replacing an absent 
board member) will not be able to take any action, such as with regard to the 
consent calendar. 

Accessibility:  Contact us to request disability-related accommodations, American 
Sign Language (ASL), Spanish, Cantonese, Mandarin, or another language 
interpreter at least five (5) business days before the event. Rent Adjustment 
Program (RAP) staff can be contacted via email at RAP@oaklandca.gov or via 
phone at (510) 238-3721. California relay service at 711 can also be used for 
disability-related accommodations.  

000002

mailto:RAP@oaklandca.gov


3  

Si desea solicitar adaptaciones relacionadas con discapacidades, o para pedir un 
intérprete de en Español, Cantones, Mandarín o de lenguaje de señas (ASL) por 
favor envié un correo electrónico a RAP@oaklandca.gov o llame al (510) 238-
3721 o 711 por lo menos cinco días hábiles antes de la reunión.   
 

需要殘障輔助設施, 手語, 西班牙語, 粵語或國語翻譯服務, 請在會議前五個工作天電

郵  RAP@oaklandca.gov 或致電 (510) 238-3721 或711 California relay service.  
 

000003

mailto:RAP@oaklandca.gov
mailto:RAP@oaklandca.gov


1 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD MEETING 

May 11, 2023 
7:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
1 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM #1 

 OAKLAND, CA 94612 

MINUTES 

1.  CALL TO ORDER

The Board meeting was administered in-person by B. Lawrence-McGowan from 
the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP), Housing and Community Development 
Department. B. Lawrence-McGowan explained the procedure for conducting the 
meeting. The HRRRB meeting was called to order by Chair Ingram at 7:05 p.m. 

2.  ROLL CALL

MEMBER STATUS PRESENT ABSENT EXCUSED 

R. NICKENS, JR. Tenant X 

D. WILLIAMS Tenant X 

J. DEBOER Tenant Alt. X 

M. GOOLSBY Tenant Alt. X 
D. INGRAM Undesignated X 

C. OSHINUGA Undesignated X 

Vacant Undesignated 

M. ESCOBAR Undesignated 
Alt. 

X 

Vacant Undesignated 
Alt. 

D. TAYLOR   Landlord  X* 

 Vacant   Landlord 
 Vacant Landlord Alt. 

K. SIMS Landlord Alt. X 

*Member Taylor joined the meeting at 7:11 pm

Staff Present 

Braz Shabrell Deputy City Attorney 
Linda Moroz  Hearing Officer (RAP) 
Briana Lawrence-McGowan Administrative Analyst II (RAP) 

000004



 
2  

 3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. No members of the public spoke during public comment. 

 

 4.  CONSENT ITEMS 

a. Approval of Board Minutes, 4/13/2023 and Panel Minutes, 4/20/2023: 
Member R. Nickens moved to approve the Board Minutes from 4/13/2023 
and the Panel Minutes from 4/20/2023. Member K. Sims seconded the 
motion. 
 

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Escobar, K. Sims, D. Williams,  
R. Nickens 

Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 

The minutes were approved. 

5. APPEALS* 

a. T19-0186/T19-0235, Didrickson v. Dang/Commonwealth Company 
 
Appearances:               Ted Dang Owner  
        Carlos & Glenda Didrickson Tenants  

 
This case involved an owner appeal of a remand decision that partially granted 
the tenants’ petition for decreased housing services. The tenants filed 2 petitions 
in 2019 that were eventually consolidated. At the first hearing, the list of 
decreased housing services alleged by the tenants was condensed and limited to 
three issues based on the fact that other issues had been addressed and 
decided in prior hearings. The three issues that were addressed in the first 
hearing were the gas heater, smoke and carbon monoxide detectors, and the 
electric breaker. At the first hearing in 2019, all three claims were denied, based 
primarily on the owner’s testimony that the issues had all been repaired. The 
tenants appealed and the case came before the Board in 2020. The Board voted 
to remand the case to the Hearing Officer to address the issues that were listed 
in the 2019 Notice of Violation and to determine if they constituted decreased 
housing services. The parties were permitted to submit additional evidence prior 
to the remand hearing, which both parties did.  
 
The remand hearing took place in October 2021. The Hearing Officer granted 
decreased housing service awards for the three items that are listed in the Notice 
of Violation. This included a leak from the heater, broken patio door handle, and 

000005



 
3  

the electric breaker. The Hearing Officer’s finding was based on the Notice of 
Violation and subsequent re-inspection notices that indicated that the issues had 
not been abated. The owner now appeals the remand decision regarding the 
door handle and the leak. The owner appeal does not contest the third item 
regarding the electric breaker. The following issue was presented to the Board: 
 

1.) Were the Hearing Officer’s findings and the remand decision regarding the 
leak and the door handle supported by substantial evidence? 

 
The owner contended that there are three issues involved in this appeal and that 
the first one involves the patio door lock. The owner argued that the reason that 
the lock is broken is because Mr. Didrickson has been using the door although 
he’s not supposed to. The owner contended that the tenant has filed 14 tenant 
petitions, and that seven Hearing Officers have issued decisions, but the 
decisions have not been followed. The owner argued that the patio door leads to 
the roof, and that nobody is allowed to be on the roof—as it's a new roof that 
replaced an older one because it was leaking into the unit. The owner contended 
that the deck that Mr. Didrickson was using before had to be removed because it 
was an illegal deck, the owner was required to remove it, and this area is now the 
roof. The owner argued that they wanted to seal the patio door so nobody could 
go onto the roof, which was previously the deck—however, Mr. Didrickson has 
resisted the owners’ efforts to do that and continues to use the roof as the deck. 
The owner contended that they have pictures that show plants, furniture, and 
cameras—and that each month, Mr. Didrickson deducts $298.33 because he 
doesn't have a deck anymore, even though he's still using the roof as the deck.  
 
The owner contended that the second issue is the leak from the heater vent. The 
owner argued that they have had three contractors check the vent: a heater 
contractor, handyman, and a sheet metal person—and they could find no leaks. 
The owner contended that Mr. Didrickson claims to have a video of the leak 
when it rains, but the owner has not seen the video. The owner argued that part 
of the problem is that they do not communicate and every time the owner asks 
Mr. Didrickson for something, a response is never received. The owner argued 
that the tenants don’t tell the owners what maintenance is required and that the 
tenants’ claims are not habitability issues—they're minor maintenance issues.  
 
The owner contended that the third issue is that they don't know what to do. The 
owner argued that hearing decisions have required the tenants to pay a certain 
amount—however, they don’t pay that amount, they pay what they want, and 
now they owe over $12,000 in rent. The owner argued that the tenants have 
claimed several times that every time they use their microwave, and the oven is 
on, the electric circuit blows and they have no power—however, this was 
checked on by an electrician and they determined that since the building is an 
older building and was built in 1950s, if you overload the circuit, the circuit will 

000006



 
4  

pop. The owner contended that in one of the cases that the tenants previously 
filed, a Hearing Officer came out and turned on several appliances and kept them 
on for a while and they did not pop—therefore, the tenants were recommended 
to use a different plug to install the microwave oven. The owner argued that since 
then, the tenants have not complained and if the electrical problem has 
continued, the tenants haven’t informed him; and that the tenants continue to 
disregard the prior issued hearing decisions, and that it’s not fair. 
 
The tenants contended that in the previous appeal hearing, the Board asked Mr. 
Dang if he had cured the violations and Mr. Dang was silent about it. The tenants 
argued that the patio door was broken before they took the deck away and that in 
previous hearings, Mr. Dang said that the tenants have a right to use the roof as 
their patio. The tenants contended that one of Mr. Dang’s colleagues said if 
they’re on the roof and using it as a patio, since they know it’s no longer a patio, 
it will be their fault if they fall. The tenants argued that the reason the owner 
removed the deck is because he put up a chimney and didn't have a permit for it, 
so they called the City building inspector, which resulted in a red tag being 
placed on the building.  
 
The tenants argued that when the City building inspector came to check the 
electrical, everything turned off in the apartment except the stove, and that to 
access the main breaker, they were required to go downstairs into the basement. 
The tenants contended that a licensed electrician has never came to check on 
the issue and that during the last hearing, they tried to show a video of the vent 
leaking but the Hearing Officer at the time didn't allow them to show the video. 
The tenants argued that the City building inspector supported the tenants’ claims 
and that the owner has no standing in this appeal because he didn't show up to 
the hearing, nor did he provide a written reason as to why he didn't show. The 
tenants argued that an appeal requirement is that if you didn't attend the hearing, 
you should give a written statement in your appeal as to why you didn’t, and the 
owner did not do that.  
 
After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, Vice 
Chair Oshinuga moved to affirm the Hearing Officer’s decision. Member R. 
Nickens seconded the motion. 

 

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Escobar, K. Sims, D. Taylor, 
D. Williams, R. Nickens 

Nay:  None 
Abstain:  None 

The motion was approved.       

000007



 
5  

b. T22-0202, Joseph v. Jones 
 
Appearances:         Kim Roehn Owner Representative 
    Michael Joseph Tenant  
 

This case involved an administrative decision that granted a tenant’s petition 
contesting a single rent increase. Administrative decisions are decisions that are 
issued without a hearing, usually because the issues can be decided on the 
papers alone, there's no material facts and dispute, and/or there's a fundamental 
flaw with the filings. In this case, the tenant petition was contesting a single rent 
increase and the owner responded by alleging that the unit is exempt from the 
Rent Adjustment Program as a condo. The administrative decision was issued on 
the grounds that the owner was allegedly missing documentation with their 
response—therefore, the owner’s response was disregarded. The following 
issues were presented to the Board: 
 
1.) Was this properly decided as an administrative decision? If the unit is in fact 

exempt from the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) as the owner alleges, RAP 
has no jurisdiction, and the rent increase would not have been unlawful, and 
the unit would not be subject to the rent increase moratorium.  
 

2.) Was the owner’s response insufficient and was the Hearing Officer justified in 
disregarding the owner's response? 

 
The owner representative contended that the administrative decision is invalid 
under state and local law, and it is inconsistent with prior RAP decisions. The 
owner representative argued that the owner is requesting that the administrative 
decision be reversed in full, and that the tenant’s petition be dismissed. The 
owner representative contended that RAP personnel have a duty to exercise 
basic due diligence to confirm they are acting within the bounds of their authority 
under the code and that this consideration is fundamental to party's due process 
rights. The owner representative argued that under Oakland Municipal Code, rent 
control rules only apply to covered units, they do not apply to exempt units. The 
owner representative contended that condominiums are a common and well-
known exemption under the code and under California's law, known as Costa 
Hawkins and that the property at issue here is a condominium. The owner 
representative argued that the condo has its own assessor’s parcel number, was 
purchased as a single unit by the owner in 1979, and it is alienable and separate 
from the title to any other dwelling unit under Costa Hawkins—therefore, it's 
exempt from Oakland's RAP ordinance.  
 
 
The owner representative argued that the administrative decision is void by law 
because RAP has no jurisdiction over the unit—and that the owner did in fact 
submit a properly filed and timely response both by mail and via the online RAP 

000008



 
6  

portal. The owner representative contended that the filing was confirmed as 
being received by RAP, and that it stated that this is an exempt property both on 
the response form and in the supporting documentation—which included the 
business tax certificate, tax documentation, and history showing the unit as a 
condo—including the grant deed, property tax bills, and proof of service on the 
tenant. The owner representative argued that despite this, a deficiency notice 
was issued to the owner stating that none of the above documentation had been 
filed—which was incorrect.  
 
The owner representative argued that when a unit is exempt, Hearing Officers 
are required to dismiss the petition—regardless of the submission of those 
supposedly missing documents, and that RAP does not have authority to take 
any other action. The owner representative contended that the owner re-filed the 
executed proof of service for the second time—however, the Hearing Officer then 
issued an administrative decision, which is a decision without a hearing. The 
owner representative argued that the decision was in favor of the tenant, striking 
down the rent increase and citing the City’s rent increase moratorium—however, 
the owner is respectfully requesting for the decision be reversed and for the rent 
increase be reinstated effective of the date of the original notice. The owner 
representative contended that the 3% CPI rent increase limit does not apply to 
exempt units, that the unit was exempt, and that the owner is also requesting that 
if the Board remands this case for any further action, that a new Hearing Officer 
be assigned—which is a party's automatic right under California law.  
 
The tenant contended that although the property is a condo, they do not have the 
expertise and the information required to make a determination about whether 
the condo is exempt from RAP. The tenant argued that their understanding is 
that it is currently covered by RAP, that it's not exempt, and that they have no 
material evidence which proves otherwise. The tenant contended that they were 
an excellent tenant, paid rent on time, and treated the apartment like it was their 
home up until they received the rent increase notice. The tenant argued that the 
rental was set up to maximize the income of the owner—who lives halfway 
across the country in Texas and has the ability to hire a lawyer.  
 
The tenant contended that the Rent Adjustment Program limits rent increases to 
the annual CPI, which was 3% in 2022—however, the property manager raised 
the rent by about 9%, which is three times the CPI. The tenant argued that the 
rent increase was illegal for that reason, assuming that the condo falls under the 
Rent Adjustment Program. The tenant contended that this situation forced them 
to move out and that the prices of rentals in the surrounding area are much lower 
than what the rent was raised to. The tenant argued that they could get a two-
bedroom for the price that the rent was raised to, and that due to the high cost, 
they were forced to find another place to live. 
 
 

000009



 
7  

After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, Vice 
Chair Oshinuga moved to vacate the Hearing Officer’s Administrative Decision 
and to remand the case back to the Hearing Officer for a full hearing and to 
consider the property owner’s full response. Member R. Nickens seconded the 
motion. 
 

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, M. Escobar, K. Sims, D. Taylor, 
D. Williams, R. Nickens 

Nay:  None 
Abstain:  None 

The motion was approved. 

6. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a. Briana Lawrence-McGowan announced to the Board that beginning on 
5/25/2023, the Board will be having special meetings on the 2nd and 4th 
Thursdays of the month, which will begin at 5:30pm. 

b. Chair Ingram announced to the Board that he’s still working with the Office 
of the City Attorneys on the proposed regulations and that they will be 
brought back to the Board very soon. 

 

7. OPEN FORUM 

a. No members of the public spoke during open forum. 

 

8. ADJOURMENT 

a. The meeting was adjourned at 8:18 p.m. 

000010



1 

Approved as to form and legality 

__________________________ 

CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND 

RELOCATION BOARD (HRRRB) 

RESOLUTION NO. _______________ 

INTRODUCED BY BOARD CHAIR DENARD INGRAM

RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND AMENDMENT OF THE 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM REGULATIONS TO (1) 

EXTEND AMORTIZATION PERIOD FOR MANDATORY 

SEISMIC RETROFITS TO 25 YEARS; (2) REDUCE 

ARGUMENT TIME TO FIVE MINUTES PER PARTY; (3) 

REMOVE APPEARANCE REQUIREMENT FOR 

APPELLANT AT APPEAL HEARINGS; (4) ALLOW NON-

VOTING ALTERNATES TO PARTICIPATE IN BOARD 

MEETINGS IN NON-VOTING CAPACITY; (5) ADD GOOD 

CAUSE HEARINGS FOR FAILURE TO APPEAR AT 

HEARINGS; (6) CODIFY EXISTING PROCEDURAL 

PRACTICES IN REGULATIONS; AND (7) MAKE OTHER 

CLARIFYING AND REORGANIZATION CHANGES 

WHEREAS, the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board may make 

recommendations to the City Council or appropriate City Council committee pertaining to 

Chapter 8.22 of the Oakland Municipal Code (O.M.C.) or City housing policy when requested to 

do so by the City Council or when the Board otherwise acts to do so, pursuant to O.M.C. 8.22.040 

D.4; and

WHEREAS, on January 22, 2019, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13516, to 

require mandatory seismic evaluation and retrofit of certain multifamily residential buildings; and 

WHEREAS, in Ordinance No. 13516, the City Council directed the Rent Board to revise 

the capital improvements amortization schedule in the Rent Program Regulations to provide an 

000011



2 

 

amortization period for Mandatory Seismic Capital Improvements that conforms with the Rent 

Board’s final motion passed during Item 5 of their July 9, 2015 meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 21, 2022, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13695, which 

established a rent registry and requires evidence of registration before submitting an owner petition 

or an owner response to a tenant petition; and now, therefore, be it 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation Section 8.22.120.I. provides that if an 

appellant fails to appear at an appeal hearing, the Board will consider the appeal dropped and will 

issue a decision dismissing the appeal, subject to the appellant showing good cause for the failure 

to appear; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.120.D.2. provides that 

unless the Board or Appeal Panel votes otherwise, each party will have fifteen (15) minutes to 

present argument on or in opposition to the appeal; and 

WHEREAS, on October 20, 2020, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13618 

(Efficiency Ordinance), to among other things, streamline Rent Board meetings by allowing the 

Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board (Rent Board) to limit argument time for each 

party to six (6) minutes; and 

WHEREAS, to make the appeal process more efficient and to minimize time commitment 

for parties to appeals, the Rent Board wishes to make appearances at appeals voluntary and reduce 

argument time to six (6) minutes per side; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.100.B provides that of a 

petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed mediation, the Hearing Officer may dismiss the 

case; and 

WHEREAS, because mediations are voluntary, the Rent Board wishes to amend the 

regulations to allow parties who miss a mediation the opportunity to receive a hearing on the 

petition; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.110.B provides that if a 

petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing, the Hearing Officer may dismiss the case; 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.110 does not currently 

outline any good-cause relief for a party that fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing except 

through the appeal process; and 

WHEREAS, either party can potentially wait an extended period of time for a scheduled 

appeal hearing just to address their good cause evidence, depending on the number of pending 

petitions; and 

WHEREAS, significant wait times for either party to be able to present their good-cause 

evidence can, in some occasions, significantly impact the relief that can be granted by the Appeal 

000012



3 

 

Body or by the Hearing Officer; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.040 does not currently 

address Alternate Board Members and their participation in scheduled Board meetings unless they 

are filling in for regular members; and 

WHEREAS, allow non-voting alternates to participate in board meetings would allow 

alternates to learn about the Rent Board in a non-voting capacity; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.090.B.1 provides that A 

Tenant petition or response to an Owner petition is not considered filed unless the tenant submits 

evidence that the tenant is current on rent or lawfully withholding rent; and 

WHEREAS, consistent with the Rent Board’s recommendation to City Council to remove 

the current on rent requirement from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance, the Rent Board wishes to 

remove the requirement for the tenant be current on rent before filing a petition from the Rent 

Adjustment Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the Rent Board wishes to revise the Rent Adjustment Regulations to clarify 

rent board procedures from case precedents and codify them in regulations; 

WHEREAS, the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board seeks to ensure that all 

covered Oakland tenants and property owners have equitable access to the protections and relief 

provided by the Rent Adjustment Ordinance; now, therefore, be it 

 

RESOLVED, That the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board recommends the 

City Council amend the Rent Adjustment Program Regulations by adopting the attached 

amendments to the Rent Adjustment Regulations; 
 

RESOLVED:  That the Rent Board wishes to amend the Rent Adjustment Regulations 

consistent with these ordinance changes; and be it 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Rent Board approves the attached Rent Adjustment 

Regulation amendments and forwards the attached regulation amendments to City Council for 

approval; and be it  

 

000013



4 

Proposed Amendments to the Rent Adjustment Regulations Sections 8.22.020-040, 

8.22.070, 8.22.090-120, and Appendix A. (additions are shown as double underline and 

deletions are shown as strikethrough): 
 
8.22.020  DEFINITIONS.  

 
“Base occupancy level” means the number of tenants occupying the covered unit as principal 

residence as of June 16, 2020, with the owner’s knowledge, or allowed by the lease or rental agreement 
effective as of June 16, 2020, whichever is greater, except that, for units that had an initial rent 
established on or after June 17, 2020, “base occupancy level” means the number of tenants allowed by the 
lease or rental agreement entered into at the beginning of the current tenancy. When there is a new lease 
or rental agreement solely as a result of adding one or more additional occupants to the lease or rental 
agreement, the “beginning of the current tenancy” refers to the tenancy existing prior to the new lease or 
rental agreement regarding the additional occupant(s). 

 
“Base Rent” means the monthly rental rate before the latest proposed increase. If the rental 

agreement provides for a period of “free” or discounted rent within its initial term, the base rent shall be 
reduced to account for the “free” or discounted period. 

 
“Imputed interest” means the average of the 10 year United States treasury bill rate and the 10 

year LIBOR swap rate for the quarter prior to the date the permits for the improvements were obtained 
plus an additional one and one-half percent, to be taken as simple interest. The Rent Program will post 
the quarterly interest rates allowable. 

  
“Primary tenant” means a tenant who resides in a covered unit, is not an owner of record of the 

property, and charges rent to or receives rent from one or more subtenants in the covered unit. 
 
“Principal Residence” means the one dwelling place where an individual primarily resides. Such 

occupancy does not require that the individual be physically present in the dwelling place at all times or 
continuously, but the dwelling place must be the individual’s usual or intended place of return. A 
Principal Residence is distinguishable from one kept primarily for secondary residential occupancy, such 
as a pied-a-terre or vacation home, or non-residential use, such as storage or commercial use. A 
determination of Principal Residence shall be based on the totality of circumstances, which may include, 
but are not limited to, the following factors: (1) whether the individual carries on basic living activities at 
the subject premises; (2) whether the individual maintains another dwelling and, if so, the amount of time 
that the individual spends at each dwelling place and indications, if any, that residence in one dwelling is 
temporary; (3) the subject premises are listed as the individual’s place of residence on any motor vehicle 
registration, driver’s license, voter registration, or with any other public agency, including Federal, State 
and local taxing authorities; (4) utilities are billed to and paid by the individual at the subject premises; 
(5) all or most of the individual’s personal possessions have been moved into the subject premises; (6) a 
homeowner’s tax exemption for the individual has not been filed for a different property; (7) the subject 
premises are the place the individual normally returns to as his/her home, exclusive of military service, 
hospitalization, vacation, family emergency, travel necessitated by employment or education, 
incarceration, or other reasonable temporary periods of absence. 

  
“Staff” means the staff appointed by City Administrator to administer the Rent Adjustment 

Program. 
 
“Subtenant,” for purposes of Regulation 8.22.025, means a tenant who resides with and pays rent 

to one or more primary tenants, rather than directly to the owner to whom the primary tenant(s) pay rent, 
for the housing services provided to the subtenant. 

 

  

000014



5 

8.22.030  EXEMPTIONS.  

A.  Dwelling Units That Are Not Covered Units 

1. In order to be a Covered Unit, the Owner must be receiving Rent in return for the occupancy of the 
dwelling unit.  

a. Rent need not be cash, but can be in the form of “in-kind” services or materials that would 
ordinarily be the Owner’s responsibility.  

i. For example, a person who lives in a dwelling unit and paints the premises, repairs 
damage, or upgrades the unit is considered to be paying Rent unless the person caused the 
damage.  
b. Payment of some of expenses of the dwelling unit even though not all costs are paid is Rent.  

i. Payment of all or a portion of the property taxes or insurance.  
ii. Payment of utility costs that are not directly associated with the use of the unit 

occupied.  
2. If California law determines that an “employee of the Owner”, including a manager who resides in the 
Owner’s property, is not a Tenant, then the dwelling unit occupied by such person is not subject to OMC 
Chapter 8.22 so long as the person is an employee and continues to reside in the unit.  

 

B.  Types of Dwelling Units Exempt  

1. Subsidized units. Dwelling units whose rents are subsidized by a governmental unit, including the 
federal Section 8 voucher program.  
 
2. Newly constructed dwelling units (receiving a certificate of occupancy after January 1, 1983).  

a. Newly constructed units include legal conversions of uninhabited spaces not used by Tenants, 
such as:  

i. Garages;  
ii. Attics;  
iii. Basements;  
iv. Spaces that were formerly entirely commercial.  

b. Any dwelling unit that is exempt as newly constructed under applicable interpretations of the 
new construction exemption pursuant to Costa-Hawkins (California Civil Code Section 1954.52).  

c. Dwelling units not eligible for the new construction exemption include:  
i. Live/work space where the work portion of the space was converted into a separate 

dwelling unit;  
ii. Common area converted to a separate dwelling unit. 

 
3. Substantially rehabilitated buildings.  

a. In order to qualify for the substantial rehabilitation exemption, the rehabilitation work must be 
completed within a two (2) year period after the issuance of the building permit for the work unless the 
Owner demonstrates good cause for the work exceeding two (2) years.  

b. For the substantial rehabilitation exemption, the entire building must qualify for the exemption 
and not just individual unitsReserved.  

 
4. Dwelling Units Exempt Under Costa-Hawkins. Costa-Hawkins addresses dwelling units that are 
exempt under state law. The Costa Hawkins exemptions are contained at California Civil Code Section 
1954.52. The text of Costa-Hawkins is attached as an appendix to OMC Chapter 8.22.  

 

C.  Certificates of Exemption   

1. Whenever an Owner seeks a Certificate of Exemption the following procedures apply:  
a. The petition cannot be decided on a summary basis and may only be decided after a hearing on 

the merits;  

000015



6 

b. Staff may intervene in the matter for the purpose of better ensuring that all facts relating to the 
exemption are presented to the Hearing Officer;  

c. In addition to a party’s right to appeal, Staff or the Hearing Officer may appeal the decision to 
the Rent Board; and,  

d. A Certificate of Exemption shall be issued in the format specified by Government Code Section 
27361.6 for purposes of recording with the County Recorder.  
2. In the event that a previously issued Certificate of Exemption is found to have been issued based on 
fraud, or mistake, or is no longer valid due to an intervening material change in law or circumstances, and 
thereby rescinded, the Staff shall record a rescission of the Certificate of Exemption against the affected 
real property with the County Recorder.  

 

  

000016



7 

8.22.040  THE BOARD.  

A.  Meetings  

1. Notice. Meetings shall be noticed and the agenda posted in accordance with the Ralph M. 

Brown Act (California Government Code Sections 54950, et. seq. (“Brown Act”) and Sunshine 

Ordinance (OMC Chapter 2.20).)  

2. Regular Meetings. The Board or an Appeal Panel shall meet regularly on the second and 

fourth Thursdays of each month, unless cancelled. Rent Program staff is authorized to schedule 

these regular meetings either for the full Board or for an Appeal Panel. 

3. Special Meetings. Meetings called by the Mayor or City Administrator, or meetings scheduled 

by the Board for a time and place other than regular meetings are to be designated Special 

Meetings. The agenda of Special Meetings shall be restricted to those matters for which the 

meeting was originally called and no additional matters may be added to the agenda.  

4. Adjourned or Rescheduled Meetings. A meeting may be adjourned to a time and place to 

complete the agenda if voted by the Board members present. A rescheduled meeting may be 

held when a quorum cannot be convened for a regular meeting or when a quorum votes to 

substitute another time and/or place for a scheduled meeting. Notice of change of meeting time 

and/or place shall be sent to the City Clerk and absent Board members and provided in 

accordance with the Brown Act and Sunshine Ordinance.  

5. Time of Meetings. Board meetings shall start at 76 p.m. and end by 10:00 p.m. unless some 

other time is set in advance or the meeting is extended by a vote of the Board.  

6. Location of Meetings. The Board meetings shall be held at City Hall, One Frank H. Ogawa 

Plaza, Oakland, CA 94612, unless otherwise designated.  

7. Agenda. The agenda for each meeting shall be posted at such time and places as required by 

the Brown Act and Sunshine Ordinance.  

8. Board meetings shall be conducted in accordance with “Robert’s Rules of Order (Newly 

Revised),” unless modified by these Regulations, requirements of the Brown Act or Sunshine 

Ordinance, or the Board.  

9. Open to Public. The meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with the Brown Act 

and the Sunshine Ordinance, except for circumstances where the Brown Act or Sunshine 

Ordinance permits the Board to address a matter in closed session, such as litigation or 

personnel matters.  

10. Board Vacations. The Board may schedule dates during the year when no regular Board 

meetings may be held so that the entire Board may take vacations. The Board must schedule 

vacation times at least two (2) months prior to the date of the vacation time.  

11. Alternate Board Members. Alternate board members may participate in discussion and 

deliberations, but will only be allowed to vote when filling in for a regular member who is not 

000017



8 

present or who has been excused from consideration of or voting on a matter by the Board. 

B.  Quorum and Voting  

1. Four Board members constitutes a quorum of the Board.  

2. Decisions of the Board. For the Board to make a decision on the first time a matter comes 

before the Board, the quorum must include at least one of each of the three categories of Board 

members (Tenant, residential rental property Owner, and one who is neither of the foregoing). If 

a matter cannot be decided because at least one of each of the three categories of Board 

members is not present, the matter will be considered a second time at a future meeting where 

the matter can be decided even if at least one member from each category is not present. A 

majority of the Board members present are required to make decisions, provided a quorum is 

present and sufficient members of each category are present.  

3. A Board member who does not participate in a matter because of a conflict of interest or 

incompatible employment neither counts towards a quorum nor in calculating the number of 

Board members required to make a majority.  

4. Special voting requirements for Just Cause for Eviction regulations enacted as part of partial 

settlement of Kim v. City of Oakland, Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG03081362 

(the "Settlement Regulations"). 

a. The special voting requirements set out in this subsection apply only to the Just Cause 

for Eviction regulations set out in Exhibit A. 

b.  The Settlement Regulations may be amended only by affirmative vote of at least five 

(5) members of the Rent Board, provided that at least one member from each class of Rent 

Board members (homeowner, landlord, and tenant) affirmatively votes to modify the Settlement 

Regulations. 

c.  Before the Board adopts any amendments to the Settlement Regulations, the Board 

must introduce the proposed amendments at a meeting, hold a public hearing at which 

members of the public and interested organizations, including the Rental Housing Association 

of Northern Alameda County, Inc. and Just Cause Oakland, are noticed, and the amendments 

can only be considered for adoption at a subsequent meeting. 

d.  After the introduction of proposed amendments to the Settlement Regulations, if the 

Board decides to further consider the adoption of the regulations and sets a public hearing to  do 

so, the Board must also transmit the proposed amendments to the appropriate committee of the 

City Council so the City Council may have the option of commenting on or holding its own 

hearing before the Rent Board votes to adopt or reject the proposed amendments.  If the Council 

elects not to comment on the proposed amendments or does not comment on them within 90 

days after transmittal of the proposed amendments by the Rent Board, the Rent Board may 

proceed to vote on the proposed amendments. 

C.  Officers  

000018



9 

1. The Board shall select a Chair from among the Board members who are neither tenants nor 

residential rental property owners. Each Appeal Panel shall be chaired by the member of that 

panel who is neither a tenant nor a residential rental property owner.  

2. The Board may also select a Vice-Chair (who is neither a Tenant nor an Owner) to act as Chair 

in the Chair’s absence.  

3. The Officers shall serve one-year terms.  

4. The Board shall elect Officers each year at the second meeting in February.  

5. The Chair votes on matters as any other Board member.  

D.  Standing Committees  

The Board may establish standing committees subject to prior approval of the City Council. A 

request to create a standing committee must include:  

1. The staffing costs for the committee; and  

2. The costs of complying with meeting noticing requirements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

000019



10 

8.22.060  NOTICE OF THE EXISTENCE OF CHAPTER 8.22 REQUIRED AT 

COMMENCEMENT OF TENANCY.  

A. Providing Notice in Multiple Languages 
 1. The requirement to provide the Notice of the Existence of Chapter 8.22 Required at 
Commencement of Tenancy in multiple languages took effect on September 210, 2016 and only applies to 
new tenancies that commenced on or after that date. 
 2. No Owner will be penalized for failing to comply with this requirement until the later of 
sixty (60) days after the Rent Program makes a general announcement of the requirement or all the 
translations are available on the Rent Program website. 
 3. Until September 21, 2017, no Owner will be denied a Rent increase for failing to provide 
the notice in the required languages, unless: 

a.  the Tenant is proficient in one of the non-English languages specified in OMC 
8.22.060 (Spanish or Chinese), and is not proficient in English; 

or 
b. the Owner negotiated the terms of the rental agreement in either Spanish or 

Chinese and failed to give the notice in that language. 

 

  

000020



11 

8.22.070  RENT ADJUSTMENTS FOR OCCUPIED COVERED UNITS.  

A.  Purpose  

This section sets forth the Regulations for a Rent adjustment exceeding the CPI Rent Adjustment and that 
is not authorized as an allowable increase following certain vacancies.  
 

B.  CPI and Banking Rent Adjustments 

5. Rent History/"Banking"  
 

(a) If a landlord chooses to increase rents less than the annual CPI Adjustment [formerly Annual 
Permissible Increase] permitted by the Ordinance, any remaining CPI Rent Adjustment may be carried 
over to succeeding twelve (12) month periods (“Banked”). However, the total of CPI Adjustments 
imposed in any one Rent increase, including the current CPI Rent Adjustment, may not exceed three 
times the allowable CPI Rent Adjustment on the effective date of the Rent Increase notice.  
 

(b) Banked CPI Rent Adjustments may be used together with other Rent justifications, except 
Increased Housing Service Costs and Fair Return, because these justifications replace the current year’s 
CPI increase.  
 

(c) In no event may any banked CPI Rent Adjustment be implemented more than ten years after 
it accrues. 
 

C.  Justifications for a Rent Increase in Excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or 

Banking 

1. Regulations regarding tThe justifications for a Rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or 
Banking are attached as Appendix A to these Regulations.  The justifications are: banking;capital 
improvement costs; uninsured repair costs; increased housing service costs; additional occupant as 
defined by OMC  8.22.020; Tenant does not reside in the unit as their principal residence; and the rent 
increase is necessary to meet constitutional or fair return requirements. 
 

a. Capital Improvement Costs: Capital Improvement Costs are those improvements which 
materially add to the value of the property and appreciably prolong its useful life or adapt it to 
new building codes. Those improvements primarily must benefit the tenant rather than the 
landlord.  
 

(1) Credit for capital improvements will only be given for those improvements which 
have been completed and paid for within the twenty-four (24) month period prior to the date the 
petition for a rent increase based on the improvements is filed.  
 

(2) Eligible capital improvements include, but are not limited to, the following items:  
 
1. Those improvements which primarily benefit the tenant rather than the landlord. (For 

example, the remodeling of a lobby would be eligible as a capital improvement, while the 
construction of a sign advertising the rental complex would not be eligible). However, the 
complete painting of the exterior of a building, and the complete interior painting of internal 
dwelling units are eligible capital improvement costs.  

2. In order for equipment to be eligible as a capital improvement cost, such equipment 
must be permanently fixed in place or relatively immobile (for example, draperies, blinds, 

000021



12 

carpet, sinks, bathtubs, stoves, refrigerators, and kitchen cabinets are eligible capital 
improvements. Hot plates, toasters, throw rugs, and hibachis would not be eligible as capital 
improvements).  

3. Except as set forth in subsection 4, repairs completed in order to comply with the 
Oakland Housing Code may be considered capital improvements.  

4. The following may not be considered as capital improvements:  
a. Repairs for code violations may not be considered capital improvements if the 
Tenant proves the following:  

i. That a repair was performed to correct a Priority 1 or 2 Condition that 
was not created by the Tenant, which may be demonstrated by any of the 
following:  

(a) the condition was cited by a City Building Services Inspector as 
a Priority 1 or 2 Condition;  
(b) the Tenant produces factual evidence to show that had the 
property or unit been inspected by a City Building Services 
Inspector, the Inspector would have determined the condition to 
be a Priority 1 or 2 Condition, but the Hearing Officer may 
determine that in order to decide if a condition is a Priority 1 or 2 
Condition expert testimony is required, in which case the Hearing 
Officer may require such testimony.  

ii. That the tenant  
(a) informed the Owner of the condition in writing;  
(b) otherwise proves that the landlord knew of the conditions, or 
(c) proves that there were exceptional circumstances that 
prohibited the tenant from submitting needed repairs in writing; 
and  

iii. That the Owner failed to repair the condition within a reasonable time 
after the Tenant informed Owner of the condition or the Owner otherwise 
knew of the condition.  
iv. A reasonable time is determined as follows:  

(a) If the condition was cited by a City Building Services Inspector 
and the Inspector required the repairs to be performed within a 
particular time frame, or any extension thereof, the time frame set 
out by the Inspector is deemed a reasonable time; or  
(b) Ninety (90) days after the Owner received notice of the 
condition or otherwise learned of the condition is presumed a 
reasonable time unless either of the following apply:  

(1) the violation remained unabated for ninety (90) days 
after the date of notice to the Owner and the Owner 
demonstrates timely, good faith efforts to correct the 
violation within the ninety the (90) days but such efforts 
were unsuccessful due to the nature of the work or 
circumstances beyond the Owner’s control, or the delay 
was attributable to other good cause; or  
(2) the Tenant demonstrated that the violation was an 
immediate threat to the health and safety of occupants of 
the property, [in which case] fifteen (15) business days is 
presumed a reasonable time unless:  

(i) the Tenant proves a shorter time is reasonable 
based on the hazardous nature of the condition, 
and the ease of correction, or  

000022



13 

(ii) the Owner demonstrates timely, good faith 
efforts to correct the violation within the fifteen (15) 
business days after notice but such efforts were 
unsuccessful due to the nature of the work or 
circumstances beyond the Owner’s control, or the 
delay was attributable to other good cause.  

(c) If an Owner is required to get a building or other City permit to 
perform the work, or is required to get approval from a 
government agency before commencing work on the premises, the 
Owner’s attempt to get the required permit or approval within the 
timelines set out in (i) and (ii) above shall be deemed evidence of 
good faith and the Owner shall not be penalized for delays 
attributable to the action of the approving government agency.  

b. Deferred Maintenance. Costs for work or portion of work that could have been 
avoided by the landlord’s exercise of reasonable diligence in making timely 
repairs after the landlord knew or should reasonably have known of the problem 
that caused the damage leading to the repair claimed as a capital improvement.  

i. Among the factors that may be considered in determining if the 
landlord knew or should reasonably have known of the problem that 
caused the damage:  

(a) Was the condition leading to the repairs outside the tenant’s 
unit or inside the tenant’s unit?  
(b) Did the tenant notify the landlord in writing or use the 
landlord’s procedures for notifying the landlord of conditions that 
might need repairs?  
(c) Did the landlord conduct routine inspections of the property?  
(d) Did the tenant permit the landlord to inspect the interior of the 

unit?  
ii. Examples:  

(a) A roof leaks and, after the landlord knew of the leak, did not 
timely repair the problem and leak causes ceiling or wall damage 
to units that could have been avoided had the landlord acted 
timely to make the repair. In this case, replacement of the roof 
would be a capital improvement, but the repairs to the ceiling or 
wall would not be.  
(b) A problem has existed for an extended period of time visible 
outside tenants’ units and could be seen from a reasonable 
inspection of the property, but the landlord or landlord’s agents 
either had not inspected the property for an unreasonable period 
of time, or did not exercise due diligence in making such 
inspections. In such a case, the landlord should have reasonably 
known of the problem. Annual inspections may be considered a 
reasonable time period for inspections depending on the facts and 
circumstances of the property such as age, condition, and tenant 
complaints.  

iii. Burden of Proof  
(a) The tenant has the initial burden to prove that the landlord 
knew or should have reasonably known of the problem that caused 
the repair.  
(b) Once a tenant meets the burden to prove the landlord knew or 
should have reasonably known, the burden shifts to the landlord 

000023



14 

to prove that the landlord exercised reasonable diligence in 
making timely repairs after the landlord knew or should have 
known of the problem.  

                             c. “Gold-plating” or “Over-improvements” 
   i. Examples: 

(a)  A landlord replaces a Kenmore stove with a Wolf range. In 
such a case, the landlord may only pass on the cost of the 
substantially equivalent replacement. 
(b) A landlord replaces a standard bathtub with a jacuzzi bathtub. 
In such a case, the landlord may only pass on the cost of the 
substantially equivalent replacement. 

   ii. Burden of Proof 
(a)The tenant has the initial burden to prove that the 
improvement is greater in character or quality than existing 
improvements. 
(b) Once a tenant meets the burden to prove that the improvement 
is greater in character or quality than existing improvements, the 
burden shifts to the landlord to prove that the tenant approved the 
improvement in writing, the improvement brought the unit up to 
current building or housing codes, or the improvement did not 
cost more than a substantially equivalent replacement. 

d. Use of a landlord's personal appliances, furniture, etc., or those items inherited 
or borrowed are not eligible for consideration as capital improvements.  
e. Normal routine maintenance and repair of the rental until and the building is 
not a capital improvement cost, but a housing service cost. (For example: while 
the replacement of old screens with new screens would be a capital 
improvement). 
f. Costs for which an Owner is reimbursed (e.g., insurance, court awarded 
damages, subsidies, tax credits, and grants) are not capital improvement costs.  

 
(3) Rent Increases for Capital Improvement costs are calculated according to the 

following rules:  
1. For mixed-use structures, only the percent of residential square footage will be applied 

in the calculations. The same principle shall apply to landlord-occupied dwellings (i.e., exclusion 
of landlord's unit).  

2. Items determined to be capital improvements pursuant to Section 10.2.2. shall be 
amortized over the useful life of the improvement as set out in the Amortization Schedule 
attached as Exhibit 1 to these regulations and the total costs shall be amortized over that time 
period, unless the Rent increase using this amortization would exceed the Rent increase limits 
provided by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3. Whenever a Capital Improvement Rent increase alone or 
with any other Rent increases noticed at the same time for a particular Unit exceeds the limits 
set by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3, if the Owner elects to recover the portion of the Capital 
Improvement that causes the Rent Increase to exceed the limits set by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3, 
the excess can only be recovered by extending the Capital Improvement’s amortization period in 
yearly increments sufficient to cover the excess, and complying with any requirements to notice 
the Tenant of the extended amortization period with the initial Capital Improvement increase. 
The dollar amount of the rent increase justified by Capital Improvements shall be removed from 
the allowable rent at the end of the amortization period.  

3. A monthly Rent increase for a Capital Improvement is determined as follows:  
a. A maximum of seventy percent (70%) of the total cost for the Capital 
Improvement (plus imputed interest calculated pursuant to the formula set forth 

000024



15 

in Regulation 8.22.020) may be passed through to the Tenant;  
b. The amount of the Capital Improvement calculated in a. above is then divided 
equally among the Units that benefit from the Capital Improvement;  
c. The monthly Rent increase is the amount of the Capital Improvement that may 
be passed through as determined above, divided by the number of months the 
Capital Improvement is amortized over for the particular Unit.  

4. If a unit is occupied by an agent of the landlord, this unit must be included when 
determining the average cost per unit. (For example, if a building has ten (10) units, and one is 
occupied by a nonpaying manager, any capital improvement would have to divided by ten (10), 
not nine (9), in determining the average rent increase). This policy applies to all calculations in 
the financial statement which involve average per unit figures.  

5. Undocumented labor costs provided by the landlord cannot exceed 25% of the cost of 
materials.  

6. Equipment otherwise eligible as a Capital Improvement will not be considered if a 
"use fee" is charged (i.e., coin-operated washers and dryers).  

7. Where a landlord is reimbursed for Capital Improvements (i.e., insurance, court-
awarded damages, subsidies, etc.), this reimbursement must be deducted from such Capital 
Improvements before costs are amortized and allocated among the units. For each improvement 
listed on a petition, the landlord must state whether a reimbursement or tax credit is or will be 
received for that improvement. 
 

(4) In some cases, it is difficult to separate costs between rental units; common vs. rental 
areas; commercial vs. residential areas; or housing service costs vs. Capital Improvements. In 
these cases, the Hearing Officer will make a determination on a case-by-case basis.  

 
(5) Interest on Failure to Reduce Capital Improvement Increase After End of 

Amortization Period.  
1. If an Owner fails to reduce a Capital Improvement Rent increase in the month 

following the end of the amortization period for such improvement and the Tenant pays any 
portion of such Rent increase after the end of the amortization period, the Tenant may recover 
interest on the amount overpaid.  

2. The applicable rate of interest for overpaid Capital Improvements shall be the rate 
specified by law for judgments pursuant to California Constitution, Article XV and any 
legislation adopted thereto and shall be calculated at simple interest.  

 
(6) Documentation of improvement costs with proof of payment (i.e., invoices, receipts, 

and/or canceled checks) must be presented for all costs which are being used for justification of 
the proposed rent increase. 

 
(7) Amortization of Capital Improvements. The following schedule shall be used to 

determine the amortization period of the capital improvement: 

 

IMPROVEMENT YEARS 

Air Conditioners 10 

Appliances  

000025



16 

Refrigerator 5 

Stove 5 

Garbage Disposal 5 

Water Heater 5 

Dishwasher 5 

Microwave Oven 5 

Washer/Dryer 5 

Fans 5 

Cabinets 10 

Carpentry 10 

Counters 10 

Doors 10 

Knobs 5 

Screen Doors 5 

Earthquake Expenses  

Architectural and Engineering 

Fees 

5 

Emergency Services  

Clean Up 5 

Fencing and Security 5 

Management 5 

Tenant Assistance 5 

Structural Repair and 

Retrofitting 

 

Foundation Repair 10 

000026



17 

Foundation Replacement 20 

Foundation Bolting 20 

Iron or Steel Work 20 

Masonry-Chimney Repair 20 

Shear Wall Installation 10 

Seismic Retrofit 25 

Electrical Wiring 10 

Elevator 20 

Fencing and Security  

Chain 10 

Block 10 

Wood 10 

Fire Alarm System 10 

Fire Sprinkler System 20 

Fire Escape 10 

Flooring/Floor Covering  

Hardwood 10 

Tile and Linoleum 5 

Carpet 5 

Carpet Pad 5 

Subfloor 10 

Fumigation  

Tenting 5 

Furniture 5 

000027



18 

Automatic Garage Door 

Openers 

10 

Gates  

Chain Link 10 

Wrought Iron 10 

Wood 10 

Glass  

Windows 5 

Doors 5 

Mirrors 5 

  

Heating  

Central 10 

Gas 10 

Electric 10 

Solar 10 

Insulation 10 

Landscaping  

Planting 10 

Sprinklers 10 

Tree Replacement 10 

Lighting  

Interior 10 

Exterior 10 

000028



19 

Locks 5 

Mailboxes 10 

Meters 10 

Plumbing  

Fixtures 10 

Pipe Replacement 10 

Re-Pipe Entire Building 20 

Shower Doors 5 

Painting  

Interior 5 

Exterior 5 

Paving  

Asphalt 10 

Cement 10 

Decking 10 

Plastering 10 

Pumps  

Sump 10 

Railing 10 

Roofing  

Shingle/Asphalt 10 

Built-Up, Tar, and Gravel 10 

Tile and Linoleum 10 

Gutters/Downspouts 10 

000029



20 

Security  

Entry Telephone Intercom 10 

Gates/Doors 10 

Fencing 10 

Alarms 10 

Sidewalks/Walkways 10 

Stairs 10 

Stucco 10 

Tilework 10 

Wallpaper 5 

Window Coverings  

Drapes 5 

Shades 5 

Screens 5 

Awnings 5 

Blinds/Miniblinds 5 

Shutters 5 

 
 
(8) The following describe five major hazard conditions classified as Priorities 1 & 2:  
 
I. MECHANICAL  

Priority 1  
A. Unvented heaters 
B. No combustion chamber, fire or 

vent hazard 
C. Water heaters in sleeping rooms, 

bathrooms 
D. Open gas lines, open flame heaters 

 
 

Priority 2  
A. Damaged gas appliance  
B. Flame impingement, soot  
C. Crimped gas line, rubber gas 

connections  
D. Dampers in gas heater vent pipes, 

no separation or clearance, through 
or near combustible surfaces  

E. Water heater on garage floor  

000030



 

21 
512\40\2031371.2 

 
II. PLUMBING  

Priority 1  
A. Sewage overflow on surface 

 
 
 
 
 

Priority 2  
A. Open sewers or waste lines  
B. Unsanitary, inoperative fixtures; 

leaking toilets  
C. T & P systems, newly or improperly 

installed  
 

III. ELECTRICAL  
Priority 1  
A. Bare wiring, open splices, 

unprotected knife switches, 
exposed energized electrical parts 

B. Evidence of overheated conductors 
including extension cords 

C. Extension cords under rugs 
 

Priority 2  
A. Stapled cord wiring; extension 

cords  
B. Open junction boxes, switches, 

outlets  
C. Over-fused circuits  
D. Improperly added wiring  

 
IV. STRUCTURAL  

Priority 1  
A. Absence of handrail, loose, weakly-

supported handrail 
B. Broken glass, posing potential 

immediate injury 
C. Hazardous stairs 
D. Collapsing structural members 

 
 
 

Priority 2  
A. Garage wall separation  
B. Uneven walks, floors, tripping 

hazards  
C. Loose or insufficient supporting 

structural members  
D. Cracked glass, leaky roofs, missing 

doors (exterior) and windows  
E. Exit, egress requirements; fire 

safety  
 
Note: Floor separation and stairway enclosures in multi-story handled on a case basis.  
 
  

V. OTHER  
Priority 1  
A. Wet garbage 
B. Open wells or unattended 

swimming pools 
C. Abandoned refrigerators 
D. Items considered by field person to 

be immediate hazards 
 
Priority 2  
A. Broken-down fences or retaining 

walls  
B. High, dry weeds, next to 

combustible surfaces  

C. Significant quantity of debris  
D. Abandoned vehicles

000031



 

22 

Questions concerning permits, repairs and compliance schedules should be referred to code 
enforcement office of the City of Oakland -- (510) 238-3381.  

 
 
 
b. Uninsured Repair Costs: Uninsured Repair Costs are costs for work done by a landlord or tenant to a 
rental unit or to the common area of the property or structure containing a rental unit which is 
performed to secure compliance with any state or local law as to repair damage resulting from, fire, 
earthquake, or other casualty or natural disaster, to the extent such repair is not reimbursed by 
insurance proceeds  
 

(1) Uninsured Repair Costs are those costs incurred as a result of natural causes and casualty 
claims; it does not include improvement work or code correction work. Improvements work or code 
correction work will be considered either capital improvements or housing services, depending on the 
nature of the improvement.  

 
(2) Increases justified by Uninsured Repair Costs will be calculated as Capital Improvement costs.  

 
c. Increased Housing Service Costs: Increased Housing Service Costs are services provided by the 
landlord related to the use or occupancy of a rental unit, including, but not limited to, insurance, repairs, 
replacement maintenance, painting, lighting, heat, water, elevator service, laundry facilities, janitorial 
service, refuse removal, furnishings, parking, security service and employee services. Any repair cost 
that is the result of deferred maintenance, as defined in Appendix A,Section 
10.2.28.22.070.C.1.a(2)(4)(b), cannot be considered a repair for calculation of Increased Housing Service 
Costs. Property tax is not considered a housing service cost. 

(1) In determining whether there has been an increase in housing service costs, consider the 
annual operating expenses for the previous two years. (For example: if the rent increase is proposed in 
1993, the difference in housing service costs between 1991 and 1992 will be considered.) The average 
housing service cost percentage (%) increase per month per unit shall be derived by dividing this 
difference by twelve (12) months, then by the number of units in the building and finally by the average 
gross operating income per month per unit (which is determined by dividing the gross monthly 
operating income by the number of units). Once the percentage increase is determined the percentage 
amount must exceed the allowable rental increase deemed by City Council. The total determined 
percentage amount is the actual percentage amount allowed for a rental increase.  
 

(2) Any major or unusual housing service costs (i.e., a major repair which does not occur every 
year) shall be considered a capital improvement. However, any repair cost that is not eligible as a capital 
improvement because it is deferred maintenance pursuant to Appendix A, Section 
10.2.28.22.070.C.1.a(2)(4)(b)), may not be considered a repair for purposes of calculating Increased 
Housing Service Costs.  
  

(3) Any item which has a useful life of one year or less, or which is not considered to be a capital 
improvement, will be considered a housing service cost (i.e., maintenance and repair).  
 

(4) Individual housing service cost items will not be considered for special consideration. For 
example, PG&E increased costs will not be considered separately from other housing service costs.  
 

(5) Documentation (i.e., bills, receipts, and/or canceled checks) must be presented for all costs 

000032



 

23 

which are being used for justification of the proposed rent increase.  
 

(6) Landlords are allowed up to 8% of the gross operating income of unspecified expenses (i.e., 
maintenance, repairs, legal and management fees, etc.) under housing service costs unless verified 
documentation in the form of receipts and/or canceled checks justify a greater percentage.  
 

(7) If a landlord chooses to use 8% of his/her income for unspecified expenses, it must be 
applied to both years being considered under housing service cost (for example, 8% cannot be applied 
to 1980 and not 1981).  

 
(8) An Increased Housing Service Costs increase may not be taken in the same year as a CPI 

increase because it replaces the current year’s CPI increase.  
 

1.8 A decrease in housing service costs (i.e., any items originally included as housing service 
costs such as water, garbage, etc.) is considered to be an increase in rent and will be calculated as such 
(i.e., the average cost of the service eliminated will be considered as a percentage of the rent). If a 
landlord adds service (i.e., cable TV, etc.) without increasing rent or covers costs previously paid by a 
tenant, this is considered to be a rent decrease and will be calculated as such.  
 

1.9 The transfer of utility costs to the tenant by the landlord is not considered as part of the rent 
increase unless the landlord is designated in the original rental agreement to be the party responsible 
for such costs. 
 

1.10 When more than one rental unit shares any type of utility bill with another rental unit, it is 
illegal to divide up the bill between units. Splitting the costs of utilities among tenants who live in 
separate units is prohibited by the Public Utilities Commission Code and Rule 18 of PG&E. The best way 
to remedy the bill is to install individual meters. If this is too expensive, then the property owner should 
pay the utility bill himself/herself and build the cost into the rent.  
 
d. “Fair Return” 
 
 (1) Owners are entitled to the opportunity to receive a fair return. Ordinarily, a fair return 
will be measured by maintaining the net operating income (NOI) produced by the property in a base 
year, subject to CPI related adjustments. Permissible rent increases will be adjusted upon a showing that 
the NOI in the comparison year is not equal to the base year NOI. 
 

(2) Maintenance of Net Operating Income (MNOI) Calculations 
 

1. The base year shall be the calendar year 2014. 
a. New owners are expected to obtain relevant records from prior owners. 
b. Hearing officers are authorized to use a different base date, however, if an 

owner can demonstrate that relevant records were unavailable (e.g., in a 
foreclosure sale) or that use of base year 2014 will otherwise result in 
injustice. 

 
2. The NOI for a property shall be the gross income less the following: property taxes, 

housing service costs, and the amortized cost of capital improvements. Gross 
income shall be the total of gross rents lawfully collectible from a property at 100% 

000033



 

24 

occupancy, plus any other consideration received or receivable for, or in connection 
with, the use or occupancy of rental units and housing services. Gross rents 
collectible shall include the imputed rental value of owner-occupied units. 

 
3. When an expense amount for a particular year is not a reasonable projection of 

ongoing or future expenditures for that item, said expense shall be averaged with 
the expense level for that item for other years or amortized or adjusted by the CPI 
or may otherwise be adjusted, in order to establish an expense amount for that 
item which most reasonably serves the objectives of obtaining a reasonable 
comparison of base year and current year expenses. 

 
(3) Owners may present methodologies alternative to MNOI for assessing their fair return if 

they believe that an MNOI analysis will not adequately address the fair return considerations in their 
case. To pursue an alternative methodology, owners must first show that they cannot get a fair return 
under an MNOI analysis. They must specifically state in the petition the factual and legal bases for the 
claim, including any calculations. 
 
e. Additional Occupants 
 
As provided by O.M.C. 8.22.020, “Additional occupant,” the addition of occupants above the base 
occupancy level, as defined by the Rent Adjustment Ordinance, allows an owner to petition to increase 
the rent by an amount up to 5% for each occupant above the base occupancy level.  Such petitions must 
be filed within ninety (90) days of approval, or deemed approval as provided by O.M.C. 8.22.360.A.2.b, 
of the tenant’s written request to add the occupant. No rent increase shall be granted for an additional 
occupant who is the spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, grandparent, child, adopted child, 
foster child, or grandchild of an existing tenant, or the legal guardian of an existing tenant’s child or 
grandchild who resides in the unit, or a caretaker/attendant as required for a reasonable 
accommodation for an occupant with a disability.   
 
Such rent increases must be reversed by the Owner if the additional occupancy level decreases, 
beginning with the most recently granted increase. Once a tenant provides written notice to the Owner 
of a decrease in the additional occupancy level and lists all current occupants, the Owner must provide 
written notice within fifteen (15) days to the tenant of the applicable reduced rent, effective as of the 
next regular rent due date occurring no sooner than thirty (30) days after the tenant’s written notice. 
 
If there are changes in occupancy following a tenant’s request to add an occupant and, prior to the 
Owner’s 15-day rent reduction notice deadline and the Owner issuing the notice, the additional 
occupancy level remains the same (e.g., a departing occupant is replaced), the Owner need not issue the 
rent reduction notice and the rent increase granted due to the prior additional occupant shall remain in 
effect, until and unless the additional occupancy level decreases. When the additional occupancy level 
remains the same following a change in occupancy, the Owner may not be granted a new additional 
occupant rent increase for any additional occupant that is added. The number of rent increases for 
additional occupants that currently apply to the rent may not exceed the additional occupancy level. 
 
f. Tenant Not Residing in Unit as Principal Residence [Added May 5, 2021, but does not take 
effect until 3 months after the Local Emergency regarding the COVID-19 pandemic declared on March 9, 
2020, is terminated by the City Council] 
 

000034



 

25 

An Owner who seeks to impose a rent increase without limitation because the Tenant is not residing in 
the unit as their principal residence must petition for approval of the unrestricted rent increase based 
on a determination made pursuant to a hearing that the Tenant does not reside in the unit as their 
principal residence as of the date the petition is filed. The Hearing Officer shall not consider evidence in 
support of a petition that is obtained in violation of California Civil Code Section 1954 or the Oakland 
Tenant Protection Ordinance. 

F. Decreased Housing Services 

1. A decrease in housing services costs (i.e., any items originally included as housing services costs such 
as water, garbage, etc.) is considered to be an increase in rent and will be calculated as such (i.e., the 
average cost of the service eliminated will be considered as a percentage of the rent). If a landlord adds 
service (i.e., cable TV, etc.) without increasing rent or covers costs previously paid by a tenant, this is 
considered to be a rent decrease and will be calculated as such.  
 
2. The transfer of utility costs to the tenant by the landlord is not considered as part of the rent increase 
unless the landlord is designated in the original rental agreement to be the party responsible for such 
costs. 
 
3. When more than one rental unit shares any type of utility bill with another rental unit, it is illegal to 
divide up the bill between units. Splitting the costs of utilities among tenants who live in separate units 
is prohibited by the Public Utilities Commission Code and Rule 18 of PG&E. The best way to remedy the 
bill is to install individual meters. If this is too expensive, then the property owner should pay the utility 
bill himself/herself and build the cost into the rent.  
 

  

000035



 

26 

8.22.090  PETITION AND RESPONSE FILING PROCEDURES.  

A.  Filing Deadlines  

1. In order for a document to meet the filing deadlines prescribed by OMC Chapter 8.22.090, 

documents must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program offices no later than 5 PM on the 

date the document is due. A postmark is not sufficient to meet the requirements of OMC 

Chapter 8.22.090.  Additional Regulations regarding electronic and facsimile filing will be 

developed when these filing methods become available at the Rent Adjustment Program.  

2. Electronically filed documents must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program no later 

than 11:59 PM on the date the document is due. 

B.  Tenant Petition and Response Requirements  

1. A Tenant petition or response to an Owner petition is not considered filed until the following 

has been submitted:  

a. Evidence that the Tenant is current on his or her Rent or is lawfully withholding Rent. 

For purposes of filing a petition or response, a statement under oath that a Tenant is current in 

his or her Rent or is lawfully withholding Rent is sufficient, but is subject to challenge at the 

hearingReserved;  

b. A substantially completed petition or response on the form prescribed by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, signed under oath; and  

c. For Decreased Housing Services claims, organized documentation clearly showing the 

Housing Service decreases claimed and the claimed value of the services, and detailing the 

calculations to which the documentation pertains. Copies of documents should be submitted 

rather than originals. All documents submitted to the Rent Adjustment Program become 

permanent additions to the file.  

d. Proof of service by first-class mail or in person of the tenant petition or response and 

any supporting documents on the owner.  

2. Subtenant petitions described by Regulation 8.22.025 and Primary Tenant responses to them 

are subject to the tenant petition and response requirements in this section. 

C.  Owner Petition and Response Requirements  

1. An Owner’s petition or response to a petition is not considered filed until the following has 

been submitted:  

a. Evidence that the Owner has paid his or her City of Oakland Business License Tax;  

b. Evidence that the Owner has paid his or her Rent Program Service Fee or evidence 

that the unit is exempt from the fee;  

000036



 

27 

c.  

i. Evidence that the Owner has provided written notice, to all Tenants in each covered 

unit affected by the petition or response, of the existence and scope of the Rent Adjustment 

Program as required by OMC 8.22.060. For purposes of filing a petition or response, a 

statement that the Owner has provided the required notices is sufficient, but is subject to 

challenge at the hearing;  

ii. After July 1, 2023, evidence of registration with the Rent Adjustment Program as 

required by O.M.C. 8.22.510 for each affected covered unit in the building prior to the petition 

or response being filed; 

d. A substantially completed petition or response on the form prescribed by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, signed under oath;  

e. Organized documentation clearly showing the Rent increase justification and detailing 

the calculations to which the documentation pertains. Copies of documents should be submitted 

rather than originals. All documents submitted to the Rent Adjustment Program become 

permanent additions to the file; and 

f. Proof of service by first-class mail or in person of the owner petition or response and 

any supporting documents on the tenants of all units affected by the petition. Supporting 

documents that exceed twenty-five (25) pages are exempt from the service requirement, 

provided that: (1) the owner petition form must be served by first-class mail or in person; (2) the 

petition or attachment to the petition must indicate that additional documents are or will be 

available at the Rent Adjustment Program; and (3) the owner must provide a paper copy of 

supporting documents to the tenant or the tenant’s representative within ten (10) days if a 

tenant requests a paper copy in the tenant’s response.  

2. Primary tenant responses to subtenant petitions described by Regulation 8.22.025 are not 

subject to the Owner response requirements in this section. 

D.  Time of Hearing and Decision  

1. The time frames for hearings and decisions set out below are repeated from OMC 8.22.110 D.  

2. The Hearing Officer shall have the goal of hearing the matter within sixty (60) days of the 

original petition's filing date.  

3. The Hearing Officer shall have a goal of rendering a decision within sixty (60) days after the 

conclusion of the hearing or the close of the record, whichever is later.  

E.  Designation of Representative  

Parties have the right to be represented by the person of their choice. A Representative does not 

have to be a licensed attorney. Representatives must be designated in writing by the party. 

Notices and correspondence from the Rent Adjustment Program will be sent to representatives 

as well as parties so long as a written Designation of Representative has been received by the 

000037



 

28 

Rent Adjustment Program at least ten (10) days prior to the mailing of the notice or 

correspondence. Parties are encouraged to designate their representatives at the time of filing 

their petition or response whenever possible.  

  

000038



 

29 

8.22.100  MEDIATION OF RENT DISPUTES.  

A.  Availability of Mediation  

Voluntary mediation of Rent disputes will be available to all parties participating in Rent 

adjustment proceedings after the filing of a petition and response. Mediation will only be 

conducted in those cases in which all parties agree in advance to an effort to mediate the 

dispute.  

B.  Procedures  

1. Parties who desire mediation shall have the choice between the use of Rent Adjustment 

Program Staff Hearing Officers acting as mediators or the selection of an outside mediator. Staff 

Hearing Officers shall be made available to conduct mediations free of charge. The Rent 

Adjustment Program will develop a list of available outside mediators for those who do not wish 

to have Staff Hearing Officers mediate rent disputes. Any fees charged by an outside mediator 

for mediation of rent disputes will be the responsibility of the parties requesting the use of their 

services.  

2. The following rules apply to mediations conducted by Staff Hearing Officers and notices 

regarding the scheduling of a mediation session shall explain the following:  

a. Participation in a mediation session is voluntary;  

b. A request by any party for a hearing on the petition instead of the mediation session 

received prior to or during the scheduled mediation will be granted. Such a request will be 

immediately referred to the Rent Adjustment Program and a hearing on the petition will be 

scheduled;  

c. Written notice of the mediation session shall be served on the parties by the Rent 

Adjustment Program in accordance with OMC 8.22.110.  

d. It is the goal to have the mediation scheduled within the first 30 days after the 

response to the petition is filed.  

e. Absence Of Parties. If either party fails to appear for a properly noticed mediation, the 

Hearing Officer will refer the matter to the Rent Adjustment Program for administrative review 

or hearing on the petition, whichever is appropriate. 

i. If a petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed mediation, the Hearing 

Officer may, in the Hearing Officer’s discretion, dismiss the case.  

ii. If a respondent fails to appear, the Hearing Officer will refer the matter to the 

Rent Adjustment Program for administrative review or hearing on the petition, 

whichever is appropriate.  

3. The following rules apply to mediations conducted by outside mediators and notices 

regarding the scheduling of a mediation session shall explain the following:  

000039



 

30 

a. Participation in a mediation session is voluntary;  

b. The Rent Adjustment Program will not schedule the mediation; the parties will be 

responsible for scheduling the mediation between themselves and the mediator and for 

notifying the Rent Adjustment Program of the time and date for the mediation;  

c. A request by any party for a hearing on the petition instead of the mediation session 

received prior to or during the scheduled mediation will be granted. Such a request will be 

immediately referred to the Rent Adjustment Program and an administrative hearing will be 

scheduled. 

d.  In the event that the respondingeither party fails to appear for the mediation session, 

the case will be referred back to the Rent Adjustment Program for administrative review and or 

hearing on the petition, whichever is appropriate.  

d. In the event that the petitioning party fails to appear for the mediation session, the 

case will be referred back to the Rent Adjustment Program for administrative dismissal of the 

petition.  

4. The Regulations regarding representation by an agent and translation apply to mediations.  

5. If the parties fail to settle the rent dispute through the mediation process after a good faith 

effort, a hearing on the petition will be scheduled on a priority basis with a Staff Hearing Officer. 

If the mediation was conducted by a Staff Hearing Officer, the hearing on the petition will be 

conducted by a different Hearing Officer.  

6. If the parties reach an agreement during the mediation, a written mediation agreement will be 

prepared immediately by the mediator and signed by the parties at the conclusion of the 

mediation. To the extent possible, mediation agreements shall be self-enforcing. The Hearing 

Officer will issue an order corresponding to the mediated agreement and signed by the parties 

that either dismisses the petition or grants the petition according to terms set out in the 

mediation agreement.  

7. A settlement agreement reached by the parties will become a part of the record of the 

proceedings on the petition unless the parties otherwise agree.  

8. The parties cannot agree to grant an Owner a permanent exemption of for dwelling unit. 

Permanent exemption claims must be decided by a Hearing Officer after a hearing on the 

evidence.  

C.  Postponements of Mediations Before Hearing Officers  

1. A Hearing Officer or designated Staff member may grant a postponement of the mediation 

only for good cause shown and in the interests of justice. A party may be granted only one 

postponement for good cause, unless the party shows extraordinary circumstances.  

2. “Good cause" includes but is not limited to:  

a. Verified illness of a party an attorney or other authorized representative of a party or 

000040



 

31 

material witness of the party;  

b. Verified travel plans scheduled before the receipt of notice of hearing;  

c. Any other reason that makes it impractical to appear at the scheduled mediation date 

due to unforeseen circumstances or verified prearranged plans that cannot be changed. Mere 

inconvenience or difficulty in appearing shall not constitute "good cause".  

3. A request for a postponement of a mediation must be made in writing at the earliest date 

possible after receipt of the notice of mediation with supporting documentation attached.  

4. Parties may mutually agree to a postponement at any time. When the parties have agreed to a 

postponement, the Rent Adjustment Program office must be notified in writing at the earliest 

date possible prior to the date set for the mediation.  

  

000041



 

32 

8.22.110  HEARING PROCEDURE.  

A.  Postponements  

1. A Hearing Officer or designated Staff member may grant a postponement of the hearing only 

for good cause shown and in the interests of justice. A party may be granted only one 

postponement for good cause, unless the party shows extraordinary circumstances.   

2. “Good cause" includes but is not limited to: a. Verified illness of a party an attorney or other 

authorized representative of a party or material witness of the party; b. Verified travel plans 

scheduled before the receipt of notice of hearing; c. Any other reason that makes it impractical 

to appear at the scheduled date due to unforeseen circumstances or verified prearranged plans 

that cannot be changed. Mere inconvenience or difficulty in appearing shall not constitute "good 

cause".  

3. A request for a postponement of a hearing must be made in writing at the earliest date 

possible after receipt of the notice of hearing with supporting documentation attached.  

4. Parties may mutually agree to a postponement at any time. When the parties have agreed to a 

postponement, the Rent Adjustment Program office must be notified in writing at the earliest 

date possible prior to the date set for the hearing.  

B.  Absence Of Parties  

1. If a petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing, the Hearing Officer may, in the 

Hearing Officer’s discretion, dismiss the case, subject to the petitioner showing good cause for 

the failure to appear. 

a. Any excuse for failing to appear, along with supporting documentation, must be 

submitted to the Hearing Officer within ten (10) days of service of the hearing decision. 

b. The Hearing Officer will determine if the excuse represents a prima facie case of 

good cause based on the standards for failing to appear at a hearing and any Board decisions 

interpreting good cause for failure to appear.  

c. If the Hearing Officer determines that the application represents a prima facie 

case of good cause, the Hearing Officer may schedule a new hearing on good cause and on the 

petition.  

d. If the petitioner submits a timely application under subsection (a), the time to 

appeal the Hearing Decision is extended until fifteen (15) days after service of the Hearing 

Officer’s decision denying good cause for failure to appear. 

2. If a respondent fails to appear, the Hearing Officer may rule against the respondent, or 

proceed to a hearing on the evidence.  

C.  Record Of Proceedings  

1. All proceedings before a Hearing Officer or the Rent Board, except mediation sessions, shall 

000042



 

33 

be recorded by tape or other mechanical means. A party may order a duplicate or transcript of 

the tape recording of any hearing provided that the party ordering the duplicate or transcript 

pays for the expense of duplicating or transcribing the tape.  

2. Any party desiring to employ a court reporter to create a record of a proceeding, except a 

mediation session, is free to do so at their own expense, provided that the opportunity to obtain 

copies of any transcript are offered to the Rent Adjustment Program and to the opposing party.  

D.  Translation  

Translation services for documents, procedures, hearings and mediations in languages other 

than English pursuant to the Equal Access to Services ordinance (O.M.C. Chapter 2.3) shall be 

made available to persons requesting such services subject to the City's ability to provide such 

services.  In the event that the City is unable to provide such services, petitioners and 

respondents who do not speak or are not comfortable with English must provide their own 

translators. The translators will be required to take an oath that they are fluent in both English 

and the relevant foreign language and that they will fully and to the best of their ability translate 

the proceedings.  

E.  Conduct Of Hearings Before Hearing Officers  

1. Each party, attorney, other representative of a party or witness appearing at the hearing shall 

complete a written Notice of Appearance and oath, as appropriate, that will be submitted to the 

Hearing Officer at the commencement of the hearing. All Notices of Appearance shall become 

part of the record.  

2. All oral testimony must be given under oath or affirmation to be admissible.  

3. Each party shall have these rights:  

a. To call and examine witnesses;  

b. To introduce exhibits, provided that the party provides the exhibits to the Rent 

Adjustment Program and serves copies to the other party not less than seven (7) days before the 

hearing unless the party has good cause for late filing;  

c. To cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even if that 

issue was not raised on direct examination;  

d. To impeach any witness regardless of which party called first called him or her to 

testify;  

e. To rebut the evidence against him or her;  

f. To cross-examine an opposing party or their agent even if that party did not testify on 

his or her own behalf or on behalf of their principal 

g. A party who fails to file a response to a petition is prohibited from calling or examining 

witnesses or introducing oral or written evidence and is limited to cross-examination, unless the 

000043



 

34 

party has good cause for failing to file a response.  

4. Unless otherwise specified in these Regulations or OMC Chapter 8.22, the rules of evidence 

applicable to administrative hearings contained in the California Administrative Procedures Act 

(California Government Code Section 11513) shall apply.  

F.  Decisions Of The Hearing Officer  

1. The Hearing Officer shall make written findings of fact and issue a written decision on 

petitions filed.  

2. If an increase in Rent is granted, the Hearing Officer shall state the amount of increase that is 

justified, and the effective date of the increase.  

3. If a decrease in Rent is granted, the Hearing Officer shall state when the decrease 

commenced, the nature of the service decrease, the value of the decrease in services, and the 

amount to which the rent may be increased when the service is restored. When the service is 

restored, any Rent increase based on the restoration of service may only be taken following a 

valid change of terms of tenancy notice pursuant to California Civil Code Section 827. A Rent 

increase for restoration of decreased Housing Services is not considered a Rent increase for 

purposes of the limitation on one Rent increase in twelve (12) months pursuant to OMC 

8.22.070 A. (One Rent Increase Each Twelve Months).  

4. The Hearing Officer may order Rent adjustment for overpayments or underpayments over a 

period of months, however, such adjustments shall not span more than a twelve (12) month 

period, unless longer period is warranted for extraordinary circumstances. The following is a 

schedule of adjustments for underpayment and overpayments that Hearing Officers must follow 

unless the parties otherwise agree or good cause is shown:  

a. If the underpayment or overpayment is 25% of the Rent or less, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 3 months;  

b. If the underpayment or overpayment is 50% of the Rent or less, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 6 months;  

c. If the underpayment or overpayment is 75% of the Rent or less, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 9 months;  

d. If the underpayment or overpayment is 100% of the Rent or more, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 12 months.  

5. For Rent overpayments based on an Owner’s failure to reduce Rent after the expiration of the 

amortization period for a Capital Improvement, the decision shall also include a calculation of 

any interest that may be due pursuant to Reg. 8.22.070.C.1.a(5) 10.2.5 (see Appendix A).  

6. If the Landlord has petitioned for multiple capital improvements covering the same unit 

or building, the Hearing Officer may consolidate the capital improvements into a single 

amortization period and, in the Hearing Officer's discretion, determine the length for that 

000044



 

35 

amortization period in the Decision. 

G.  Administrative Decisions 

For rent increase petitions based on one or more additional occupants, if there is no genuine 

dispute regarding any material fact, the petition may be decided as a matter of law, and the 

tenant waives their right to a hearing in writing on a form provided by the Rent Adjustment 

Program, the Hearing Officer shall issue a decision without a hearing. 

 

  

000045



 

36 

8.22.120  APPEALS.  

A.  Statement of Grounds for Appeal and Supporting Documentation 

1.  A party who appeals a decision of a Hearing Officer or administrative decision must clearly 

state the grounds for the appeal on the appeal form or an attachment. The grounds for appeal 

must be stated sufficiently clearly for the responding party, and the Board to reasonably 

determine the basis for the appeal so that the responding party can adequately respond and the 

Board can adequately adjudicate the appeal. 

2.  A party who files an appeal must file any supporting argument and documentation and serve 

it on the opposing party within fifteen (15) days of filing the appeal along with a proof of service 

on the opposition party. 

3.  A party responding to an appeal must file any response to the appeal and any supporting 

documentation and serve it on the opposing party within thirty (30)fifteen (15) days of the 

service of the supporting documentationappeal along with a proof of service on the opposing 

party. 

4.  Any argument and supporting documentation may not be any more than twenty-five (25) 

pages.  Arguments must be legible and double-spaced if typed.  Any submissions not conforming 

to these requirements may be rejected by Staff.  Staff may limit the pages for argument and 

supporting documentation submitted in consolidated cases.   

5.  Staff, in its discretion, may modify or waive the above requirements for good cause.  The good 

cause must be provided in writing by the party seeking a waiver or modification.   

B.  Grounds for Appeal  

The grounds on which a party may appeal a decision of a Hearing Officer include, but are not 

limited to, the following:  

1. The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, the Regulations, or prior decisions of the 

Board;  

2. The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers;  

3. The decision raises a new policy issue that has not previously been decided by the Board;  

4. The decision violates federal, state, or local law;  

5. The decision is not supported by substantial evidence.  Where a party claims the decision is 

not supported by substantial evidence, the party making this claim has the burden to ensure that 

sufficient record is before the Board to enable the Board to evaluate the party’s claim;  

6. The Hearing Officer made a procedural error that denied the party sufficient opportunity to 

adequately present his or her claim or to respond to the opposing party; or  

7. The decision denies the Owner a fair return.  

000046



 

37 

a. This appeal ground may only be used by an Owner when his or her underlying petition 

for approval of a rent increase was based on a fair return claim. 

b. Where an Owner claims the decision denies a fair return, the Owner must specifically 

state on the appeal form the basis for the claim, including any calculations, and the legal basis 

for the claim.  

 C.  Postponements  

1. The Board or Staff may grant a postponement of the appeal hearing only for good cause shown 

and in the interests of justice. A party may be granted only one postponement for good cause, 

unless the party shows extraordinary circumstances.  

2. “Good cause" shall include but is not limited to:  

a. Verified illness of a party an attorney or other authorized representative of a party or 

material witness of the party;  

b. Verified travel plans scheduled before the receipt of notice of hearing;  

c. Any other reason that makes it impractical to appear at the scheduled date due to 

unforeseen circumstances or verified prearranged plans that cannot be changed. Mere 

inconvenience or difficulty in appearing shall not constitute "good cause".  

3. A request for a postponement of an appeal hearing must be made in writing at the earliest 

date possible after receipt of the notice of appeal hearing with supporting documentation 

attached.  

4. Parties may mutually agree to a postponement at any time. When the parties have agreed to a 

postponement, the Rent Adjustment Program office must be notified in writing at the earliest 

date possible prior to the date for the appeal hearing.  

D.  Procedures at Appeal Hearings  

1. It is the Board’s or Appeal Panel’s goal to hear three (3) appeals per meeting.  

2. Unless the Board or Appeal Panel votes otherwise, or the Appeal Body Chair establishes an 

alternate time limit prior to the first appeal being heard by the Appeal Body, each party will have 

fifteen (15) six (6) minutes to present argument on or in opposition to the appeal. This time 

includes opening argument and any response.  

3. Whenever the Board or Appeal Panel considers an appeal at more than one meeting, any 

Board member not present at a prior hearing must listen to a tape of the prior hearing in order 

to participate at a subsequent hearing.  

4.  Only those grounds presented in the written appeal may be argued before the Board or the 

Appeal Panel. 

E.  Record Of Proceedings  

000047



 

38 

1. All proceedings before the Rent Board shall be recorded by tape or other mechanical means. A 

party may order a duplicate or transcript of the tape recording of any appeal hearing provided 

that the party ordering the duplicate or transcript pays for the expense of duplicating or 

transcribing the tape.  

2. Any party desiring to employ a court reporter to create a record of a proceeding, except a 

mediation session, is free to do so at their own expense, provided that the opportunity to obtain 

copies of any transcript are offered to the Rent Adjustment Program and to the opposing party.  

F.  Evidentiary Hearings  

1. As a general rule, the Board and Appeal Panels should not conduct evidentiary hearings. 

When the Board or Appeal Panel determines that additional evidence or reconsideration of 

evidence is necessary, the Board or Appeal Panel should remand the matter back to a Hearing 

Officer for consideration of evidence.  

2. The Board or Appeal Panel should only consider evidence when the evidence is limited in 

scope and resolution of the matter is more efficient than having it remanded to a Hearing Officer 

for consideration of the evidence.  

3. In order for new evidence to be considered, the party offering the new evidence must show 

that the new evidence could not have been available at the Hearing Officer proceedings.  

4. If the Board or Appeal Panel deems an evidentiary hearing necessary, the appeal will be 

continued and the Board will issue a written order setting forth the issues on which the parties 

may present evidence.  

5. The parties must file any new documentary evidence with the Board or Appeal Panel and also 

serve it the opposing party not more than ten (10) days after notice is given that a date has been 

set for the evidentiary appeal hearing.  

a. Parties must also file with the Rent Program proofs of service of the evidence on the 

opposing party.  

b. Failure to file the evidence and the proofs of service may result in the evidence not 

being considered by the Board or Appeal Panel.   

6. When the Board or Appeal Panel conducts an evidentiary hearing, the same rules will apply as 

to hearings before Hearing Officers.  

G.  Appeal Decisions  

1. Vote Required. Provided a quorum of the Board is present, or all three Appeal Panel members 

if a matter is being heard by an Appeal Panel, a majority vote of the Board members present is 

required to overturn or modify a Hearing Officer’s decision. A tie vote upholds the Hearing 

Officer’s decision. If no Board member makes a motion to uphold, reverse, or modify the 

Hearing Officer’s decision on appeal or no motion receives a second, the appeal is deemed 

denied without comment.  

000048



 

39 

2. Vote at Close of Appeal Hearing. Unless the Board or Appeal Panel votes otherwise, it shall 

vote on each appeal at the close of the appeal. The motion should include the reasons for the 

decisions so that the reasons can be set forth in a written decision.  

a. Form of Decision. An appeal decision must be in writing and include findings and 

conclusions.  

b. Time for Written Decision. The Board has the goal of issuing a written decision within 

thirty (30) days of the close of the appeal hearing.  

c. Final decision. 

i.  Written appeal decisions are drafted by Staff, reviewed by the City 

Attorney, signed by staff as the Board’s designee, and served on the parties.  

ii. In any individual matter, however, the Board or Appeal Panel may vote to 

require that a decision first come to the full Board or full Appeal Panel or to the Board or 

Appeal Panel Chair for final approval and signature of that Chair.  A decision is not final 

until signed by Staff or the Board or Appeal Panel Chair and served on the parties.  

 d.  In its decision, the Board is authorized to designate a schedule for refunds or 

repayments consistent with Reg. 8.22.110 F.4 in cases where its decision results in under- or 

over-payments by a party; alternatively, the Board may remand to the Hearing Officer for 

purposes of devising a refund or repayment plan. 

e. Staff shall serve decisions on the parties.  

H. Dismissal of Appeal 

1.  Untimely appeal filing. 

a. Staff may dismiss an appeal that is not timely filed. 

b. Within ten (10) days following Staff’s notice of the dismissal, the party filing the 

late appeal may submit a written statement explaining any good cause for the late filing. 

c. If the good cause appears within the guidelines for acceptable good cause set out 

in Rent Board decisions, Staff may reinstate the appeal or set a hearing before the Board on 

whether there is good cause for the late appeal. 

d. If the good cause does not appear within the acceptable good cause parameters, 

Staff may reject the good cause and affirm the appeal dismissal. 

2. Failing to adequately state grounds for appeal. 

 a. If Staff determines that an appeal fails to adequately state the grounds for appeal, 

Staff will send a deficiency notice to the appellant notifying the appellant of the deficiency and 

giving the appellant ten (10) days to correct the deficiency. 

000049



 

40 

 b. If the appellant fails to respond to the deficiency notice or fails to correct the 

deficiency in the response, Staff may dismiss the appeal, or ask the Rent Board to determine the 

adequacy of the appeal. 

I. Failure to Appear 

1.  Appellant.  If an appellant fails to appear at an appeal hearing, the Board or Appeal Panel will 

decide the appeal on the record as submittedconsider the appeal dropped and will issue a 

decision dismissing the appeal, subject to the appellant showing good cause for the failure to 

appear.   

a. Any excuse for failing to appear, along with supporting documentation, must be 

submitted to Staff with ten (10) days of the date of the service of the appeal decision. 

b. Staff will, in the first instance determine if the excuse represents a prima facie 

case of good cause based on the standards for failing to appear at a hearing and any Board 

decisions interpreting good cause for failure to appear. 

c. If a prima facie case of good cause is shown, Staff will schedule an appeal hearing 

on whether the Board or Appeal Panel accepts the good cause. 

2.  Responding party.  If the responding party fails to appear, the Board or Appeal Panel must 

still hear and decide the appeal. 

  

000050



 

41 

Appendix A 

Deleted [Contents moved to Section 8.22.070.] 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED:  That the Rent Board authorizes the Chair or the Chair’s 

designee to speak in support of the resolution on behalf of the Board at City Council or Committee 

meetings. 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE 
 
AYES: NICKENS, WILLIAMS, OSHINUGA, ESCOBAR, TAYLOR AND CHAIRPERSON 

INGRAM 
NOES:   
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTENTION:  
 
 
___________________            ATTEST____________________________ 
Date:                  BRIANA LAWRENCE-MCGOWAN 

Rent Adjustment Program, Housing 
& Community Development 
Department 

 

000051



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T23-0019   

Case Name:      Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC   

Property Address:     2031 69th Avenue, Oakland, CA 94621   

Parties:               Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC (Owner) 

      Reyes Ornelas (Tenant) 

      Maria Barragan (Tenant)      

 

OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity       Date 

Tenant Petition filed     January 23, 2023  

Property Owner Response filed    February 1, 2023 

Tenant Evidence Submission    February 28, 2023 

Notice of Incomplete Owner Response mailed February 28, 2023  

Administrative Decision mailed    April 6, 2023 

Property Owner Appeal filed    April 18, 2023 

Tenant Brief in Support of Petition submitted May 2, 2023  

Owner Appeal Supporting Document submitted May 25, 2023 

000052



T '6J 001 t?J~ 
~,-;;..-· ---------====:-:-=-=:-::-'"-----------..;..-J,.----L.-......;...;~--::1-~:-:-:------------. 

CITY OF OAKLAND F~ ',,;e,:~jl\§~entrf-;,~g!, 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM ~-dli it:: t~~; ~;~:~ f~ \(f 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA ·94612-0243 
(510) 238.;.3721 
CA Relay· Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

TENANT PETITION 
Please fill out this form as completely as you can. Use this form to contest a rent increase, seek a rent decrease, and/or 
contest an owner exemption from the Rent Adjustment Program. Failure to provide the required information may result in your 
petition being rejected or delayed. See the last pages of this petition packet ("Important Information Regarding Filing Your 
Petition'J or the RAP website for more information. CONTACT A HOUSING COUNSJ;LOR TO REVIEW YOUR PETITION 
BEFORE SUBMITTING. To make an appointment email RAP@oaklandca.gov . 

• 2031 , 69th Ave. C 

Street Number Street Name Unit Number 
Oakland, _CA _9_4_62_1 __ _ 

Zip Code 

Move-in Date: 01/2013 ------- Initial Rent at Move-In: $__,1,_0_00 ____ _ Current Rent: $ 1,500 
-------

Is your rent subsidized or controlled by a government agency (such as HUD or Section 8), other 
than Oakland Rent Adjustment Program? (See page 5 "Jurisdiction" for more information) 

□ Yes 
13 No 
□ ·Notsure 

Are you current on rent? esl Yes 
□ No* 

( *Note: You must be current on your rent or lawfully withholding rent in order to file a petition. 
Checking "No" without pro.viding an.adequate explanation may result in your petition being 
dismissed.) 

If not current on rent, explain why:-----------------------------~ 

When (if ever) did the property owner first provide you with 
the City form, NOTICE TO TENANTS OF THE RESIDENTIAL 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM ("RAP Notice")? 

□ I first received the RAP Notice on: --------() was never provided with the RAP Notice 
□ I do not remember if I ever received the RAP Notice 

Case number(s) of any relevant prior Rent Adjustment case(s): 

Maria Barragan 

First Name Last Name 

Mailing Address (if different from above): ___________________________ _ 

Primary Telephone: {510) 395-0124 Other Telephone: ________ Email: carmenornel_as01@gmail.com 

Reyes Ornelas 

First Name Last Name 

Mailing Address (if different from above): ______________________________ _ 

Primary Telephone: <510>-472-1072 
Other Telephone: ---------.- Email: -----------

First Name Last Name Firm/Organization (if any) 

Mailing Address:_· _______________________________ ,;._._ __ _ 

Phone Number: _____________ Email: ___________________ _ 

..... ""',._,.,,___temmt Petition 
Rev. 09/14/2022 

Page 1 of 4 

000053



Property Owner 
Ahmed 

First Name 

Said 

Last Name 

Company/LLC/LP (if applicable): _M~ea=d....;H....;o...;.ld....;in;.;.og"-L....;L.;.;..C _____ .....,...... _______________ _ 

M .,. Add 2400 Market Suite B Oakland ,ca 94607 a,mg ress: ____________________________________ _ 

Phone Number: (510)-812-3277 Email: Ahmedmead@gmail.com 

Property Manager (if applicable) 

First Name Last Name Name of Management Company 

Mailing Address: ___________________________________ _ 

Phone Number: ______________ Email: ____________________ _ 

Select the grounds for this petition from the list below. ·Check all that apply. You must check at least one box. To contest a 
rent increase, select item(s) from Category A. If you have experienced a decrease in housing services and/or have issues with 
the condition of your unit, or are being charged for utilities in violation of the law, select item(s) from Category a. For more 
information on each of the grounds, see Oakland Municipal Code (O.M.C.) Sections 8.22.070 and 8.22.090 (Rent Adjustment 
Ordinance) and the corresponding Regulations. A copy of the Ordinance, and Regulations are available here: 
www.oaklandca.gov/resources/read-the-oakland-rent-adiustment-program-ordinance. 

"Tenant Petition 
Rev. 09/14/2022 

cu· (A 1) I received a rent increase above the allowable amount. 

~ (A2) I received a rent increase that I believe is unlawful because I was not given 
proper notice, was not properly served, and/or was not provided with the required 
RAP Notice ("Notice to Tenants of the Residential Rent Adjustment Program"). 

D (A3) I received a rent increase and do not believe I should be required to pay it 
because a government agency has cited my unit for serious health, safety, fire, or 
building code violations. (You must attach a copy of the citation to your petition.) 

D (B 1) The property owner is providing me with fewer housing services than 1 
previously received and/or I am being charged for services originally paid for by the 
owner. (Check this box for petitions based on bad conditions/failure to repair.) 

D (82) I am being unlawfully charged for utilities. 

D (C1) My rent was not reduced after a prior rent increase period for capital 
improvements or after an additional tenant for whom the owner was allowed an· 
increase, vacated from the premises. 

• D (C2) I wish to contest an exemption from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance because the 
exemption was based ·on fraud or mistake. 

D (C3) The initial rent amount when I first moved in was unlawful because the property 
owner was not permitted to set the initial rent without limitation. Q;M.C. § 8.22.080 (C). 

Page 2 of 4 

000054



List all rent increases you wish to contest. Begin with the most recent increase and work backwards. If you never received 
the RAP Notice, you can contest all past -increases. See the "Important Information" page at the end of this petition packet for 
more information on time limits for contesting rent increases. If you need additional space, attach a separate sheet or an • 
additional copy of this form. • 

• • F_or petitions contesting. a rent increase on the grounds that the unit has been cited by a government agency for 
serious health, safety, fire, or building code violations, you must attach a copy of the citation to your petition. 
Failure to attach a copy of the citation may result in your petition being dismissed. 

List all the conditions that you believe entitle you to a rent decrease. If your petition is based on problems related to 
your unit, or because the owner has taken away service(s) or is charging for services originally provided by the owner, you 

. must complete this section. If you need more space, attach a separate sheet or an additional copy of this form. 

• You are strongly encouraged to submit documentary evidence (photographs, inspection reports, 
correspondence with your landlord, etc.) together with your petition. Evidence may be submitted up to seven 
calendar days prior: to your hearing. 

• You may wish to have a City inspector come inspect your unit for possible code violations in advance of your 
hearing. Copies of any inspection report(s) may be submitted in support of your petition. To schedule an • 
inspection, contact the City of Oakland Code Enforcement Unit at (510) 238-3381, or file a complaint online at 
https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/file-a-complaint-with-code-enforcement. Note: if additional items are cited in 
an inspection report that were not included in your original petition (below), you must file an additional petition 
listing those items in order for RAP staff to consider them as a part of your claim. 

Description of problem or 
decreased housing service 
(list separately): 

Tenant Petition 
Rev. 09/14/2022 

Date probl 
decreased 
started: 

Page 3 of4 

000055



I/We declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws of the State of California that everything I/we said in 
this· Tenant Petition is true and that all of the documents attached to the Petition are true copies of the originals. 

. 7n«I MA M ,e(M fA ,1/ 
Tenant 1 Signature • 

01/20/23 
Date 

Ten~ 04::'ZAS 01/20/23 
Date 

Check the box below if you agree to have RAP staff and the OTHER PARTY/PARTIES send you documents related to 
your case electronically. If you agree to electronic service, the RAP may _send certain documents only electronically 
and not by firstf lass mail. . . . . 

13 I/We consent to receiving notices and documents in this matter from the RAP and from the OTHER 
PARTY/IES electronically at the email address{es) provided in this response. 

Mediation is an optional process offered by RAP to assist parties in settling the issues related to their Rent Adjustment 
case as an alternative to the formal hearing process. A traine? third party will wo~k.wit~ t~e parties prior to the hearing 
to see if a mutual agreement can be reached. If a settlement 1s reached, the parties will sign a binding agreement and 
there will not be a formal hearing. If no settlement is reached, the case will go to a formal hearing with a Rent . 
Adjustment Hearing Officer, who will then issue a hearing decision. 

Mediation will only be scheduled if both part!es agree to mediate.Sign below ifyou·agree to mediation in your case. 

I agree to have the case mediated by a Rent Adjustment Program staff mediator. 

Tenant Signature Date 

If English is not your primary language, you have the right to an interpreter in your primary language/dialect at the Rent 
Adjustment hearing and mediation session. You can request an interpreter by completing this section. 

[XI I request an interpreter fluent in the following 
language at my Rent Adjustment proceeding: 

[ii Spanish (Espanol) 
□ Cantonese (ll JJ~) 
□ Mandarin (-tf@ii) 

□ Other:---------:... __ 

-END OF PETITION-

~~.,,Tenant Petition 
Rev. 09/14/2022 

Page 4 of 4 

000056



PERSON S SERVED: 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

I declare under penalty of perjury. under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct. 

PRINTED NAME 

Proof of Service 
Rev. 5/21/2021 

DATE SIGNED 

Pa·ge 2 of 2 

000057



t. CITY OF OAKLAND For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

1) Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner of service and the person(s) served. 

2) Note: Email is not a form of allowable service on a party of a petition or response pursuant to the Ordinance. 
3) Provide a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the person(s) being served together with the 

documents being served. 
4) File ·a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form with RAP together with your Petition. Your Petition 

will not be considered complete until this form has been filed indicating _that service has occurred. 

On the following date: :';9~';;i:;JJL{;;';~fu'l:~~i;,zg:,~~i:s I served a copy of (check all that apply): 

~ TENANT PETITION plus attached pages (number of pages attached to Petition not 
counting the Petition form, NOTICE TO PROPERTY OWNER OF TENANT PETITION~ or 
PROOF OF SERVICE) 

~ NOTICE TO PROPERTY OWNER OF TENANT PETITION 

□ Other: 

by the following means (check one): 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

QI United States Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed 
to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope 
with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

D Personal Service. I personally delivered the document(s) ~o the person(s) at the address(es) 
listed below or I left the document(s) at the address(es) with some person not younger than 
18 years of age. 

Page 1 of 2 
Proof of Service 
Rev. 5/21/2021-=-"'-'=,_,·,~·, ·-

000058



[AFFIX THIS PAGE TO FRONT OF PETITION WHEN SERVING PROPERTY OWNER] 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 Oakland, CA 
94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

NOTICE TO PROPERTY OWNER OF TENANT 
_ PETITION 

ATTENTION: IMMEDIATE ACTION REQUIRED 

If you are receiving this NOTICE together with a completed TENANT PETITION form, it means 
that a tenant has filed a case against you with the Oakland Rent Adjustment Pro.gram ("RAP") 
( commonly referred to as the "Rent Be>ard"). . 

► YOU MUST FILE A RESPONSE WITHIN 35 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER THE PETITION 
WAS MAILED TO YOU (30 DAYS IF DELIVERED IN-PERSON). 

► TO RESPOND: 

1) Complete a PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form found on the RAP website. 
(https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/respond-to-a-tenant-petition-for-the-rent-adjustment
program) 

2) Serve a copy of your PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form on the tenant ( or the 
tenant's representative listed on the petition) by mail or personal delivery. 

3) Complete a PROOF OF SERVICE form (which is attached to the Response form and also 
available on the website) and provide a copy to the tenant (or tenan~'s representative) 
together with your PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form. 

4) Submit your PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form and completed PROOF OF 
SERVICE* form to RAP through RAP's online portal, via email, or by mail. 

*Note: The Response will not be considered complete until a PROOF OF SERVICE is 
filed indicating that the tenant has been served with a copy. 

DOCUMENT REVIEW: The tenant is -required to serve on you all documents the tenant filed in 
this case in addition to the petition. Additionally, all documents are available for review at RAP. 

FOR ASSISTANCE: Contact a RAP Housing Counselor at (510) 238-3721 or by email at 
RAP@oaklandca.gov. Additional information is also available on the RAP website and on the 
PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE form. 

[AFFIX THIS PAGE TO FRONT OF PETITION WHEN SERVING PROPERTY OWNER] 000059



,IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
REGARDING FILING YOUR PETITION 

TIME TO FILE YOUR PETITION 

Your Tenant Petition form must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program within the required time limit for 
filing. RAP staff cannot g·rant an extension of time to file your Petition. • 

■ For Petitions contesting a rent increase, you have 90 days from the date of notice of increase or 
from the first date you received the RAP Notice (whichever is later) to file a Petition. If you did not 
receive a RAP Notice with the rent increase you are contesting but have received one in the past 
you have 120 days to file a Petition. If you have never received a RAP Notice, you may contest ' 
all rent increases. 

• ■ For Petitions claiming decreased housing services, you have 90 days from either the date you 
first became aware of the decreased service or the date you first received the RAP Notice 
(whichever is later) to file a Petition. If the decreased housing service is ongoing, you may file a 

.Petition at any time. See O.M.C. §§ 8.22.090 (A)(2)-(3) for more information. 

CONTACT A HOUSING COUNSELOR TO REVIEW YOUR PETITION BEFORE SUBMITTING 

To make an appointment, email RAP@oaklandca.gov or call (510) 238-3721. Although the Housing Resource 
Center is temporarily closed for drop-in services, assistance is available by email or telephone. 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED IN SUPPORT OF PETITION 

All attachments submitted together with your Petition must be numbered sequentially. You may submit 
additional evidence in support of your Petition up to seven days before your hearing 1. You must serve a 
copy of any documents filed with RAP on the other party and submit a PROOF OF SERVICE form. 

REMINDER: Once a petition and its attachments are submitted to the RAP they become public records. 
Please redact any private information (such as social security numbers, bank account numbers, credit card 
numbers and similar financial data) from the documents you submit as part of this petition. If you· have any 
questions, you may contact RAP staff at (510) 238-3721 or by email at RAP@oaklandca.gov. 

Additionally, all documents submitted. to the RAP, including but not limited to emails, petitions, attachments 
potential evidence, text messages, screenshots, etc., are a part of the file in your case and all parties to a ' 
case are entitled to have access to this information. 

SERVICE 9N PROPERTY OWNER 

You are required to serve ALL the following documents on the property owner and/or the property owner's 
representative: 

1. Copy of RAP form entitled "NOTICE TO PROPERTY OWNER OF TENANT PETITION" (included 
in petition packet and available on RAP website). . 

2. Copy of completed Petition form and attachments. 
3. Completed PROOF OF SERVICE form (included in petition packet and available on RAP website). 

You may serve the property owner and/or the owner's representative by mail or personal delivery. A copy of the 
completed PROOF OF SERVICE form must be submitted to RAP together with your Petition. Your Petition will . 
not be considered complete until a PROOF OF SERVICE form is filed indicating that the owner has been served. 
Note· that you cannot serve a Petition by emaH·, even if you have an agreement to electronic service between the 
parties, because the Ordinance requires service by mail or in person. • 

1 Note that certain documents are required to be submitted with the Petition. See petition for details. 

Information Sheet 
Rev. 5/21/2021 

Page 1 of 3 

000060



CITY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program oate stamp. 
:""2~ 

FfB - 2023 
HcN f Al)Jll.:i I 1t'IL11! f ~ ')GF ;M 

OE • 'Jt ~ 
cAsE NUMBER T -A3-oo 1 ~ 

6'- L 
PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE 

TO TENANT PETITION 
Please fill out this form as completely as you can. Use this form to respond to the Tenant Petition you received. By 
completing this response form and submitting it in the required time for filing, you will be able to participate in the hearing. Failure to 
provide the required information may result in your response being rejected or delayed. See 'Important Information Regarding Filing 
Your Response" on the last page of this packet for more information, including filing instructions and how to contact the Rent 
Adjustment Program ("RAP'? with questions. Additional information is also available on the RAP website. CONTACT A HOUSING 
COUNSELOR TO REVIEW YOUR RESPONSE BEFORE SUBMITTING To make an appointment email RAP@oaklandca oov 

Rental Unit Information 

2031 69th Avenue C Oakland, CA 94621 
Street Number Street Name Unit Number Zip Code 

Is there more than one street address on the parcel? □ Yes If yes, list all addresses: 
[!I No 

Type of unit(s) 
□ Single family home Number of units on property: 6 
□ Condominium (check one): 
l!l Date acquired property: 11/22/2000 

Apartment, room, or live-work 

Case number(s) of any relevant prior Rent Adjustment case(s): 

Tenant Information 

Name of Tenant Petitioner(s): Maria Barragan & Reyes Ornelas 

Jan,2013 Initial rent amount: $ 1,000 
ls/are tenant(s) ~ Yes 

Date tenant(s) moved into rental unit: current on rent? □ No 

Property Owner Information 

Ahmed Said 
First Name Last Name 

Company/LLC/LP (if applicable): Mead Holding LLC 
2400 Market St, Suite B 

Mailing address: Oakland Ca 94607 

Primary Telephone: (510) 812-3277 Other Telephone: (510) 326-6215 Email: ahmedmead@gmail.com 

Property Owner Representative (Check one): 

First Name 

Mailing Address: 

Phone Number: 

Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition 
Rev. 09/14/2022 

Last Name 

[!I No Representative □ Attorney □ Non-attorney 

Firm/Organization (if any) 

Email: 

Page 1 of 4 

000061



To file a Response to a Tenant Petition, the property owner must be current on the following requirements and submit 
supporting documentation of compliance. Property Owner Responses that are submitted without proof of compliance with the 
below requirements will be considered incomplete and may limit your participation in the hearing. 

Requirement ' 

D Current Oakland business license 

D Payment of Rent Adjustment Program 
service fee ("RAP Fee") 

D Service of the required City form 
entitled "NOTICE TO TENANTS OF 
THE RESIDENTIAL RENT 
ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM" ("RAP 
Notice") on all tenants 

Documentation 

Attach proof of payment of your most recent Oakland business license. 

Attach proof of payment of the current year's RAP Fee for the subject property. 

Attach a signed and dated copy of the fi£§1 RAP Notice provided to the 
petitioning tenant(s} or check the appropriate box below. 

□ I first provided tenant(s) with the RAP Notice on (date):. _____ _ 

!XI I have never provided a RAP Notice. 

□ I do not know if a RAP Notice was ever provided. 

If you believe that the subject property is exempt from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance (pursuant to O.M.C. § 8.22.030), check 
each box below that is the claimed basis of exemption. Attach supporting documentation together with your response form. If 
you do not claim any exemption, proceed to the "Response to Tenant Petition" section on the following page. 

D The unit is a single-family residence or condominium exempted by the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act (Civil Code 
1954.50, et seq.). If claiming this exemption, you must answer the following questions. Attach a separate sheet 
if necessary. 

1. Did the prior tenant leave after being given a notice to quit (Civil Code Section 1946)? 
2. Did the prior tenant leave after being given a notice of rent increase (Civil Code Section 827)? 
3. Was the prior tenant evicted for cause? 
4. At the time the prior tenant vacated were there any outstanding violations of building housing, fire or safety codes in 

the unit or building? 
5. Is the unit separately alienable, meaning it can be sold separately from any other unit on the parcel? 
6. Did the petitioning tenant have roommates when he/she moved in? 
7. If the unit is a condominium, did you purchase it? If so: 1) From whom? 2) Did you purchase the entire building? 

D The rent for the unit is controlled, regulated, or subsidized by a governmental unit, agency, or authority other than the City 
of Oakland Rent Adjustment Ordinance. (Attach documentation.) 

D The unit was newly constructed and issued a Certificate of Occupancy on or after January 1, 1983. (Attach copy of 
Certificate of Occupancy.) 

D The unit is located in a motel, hotel, or rooming/boarding house, which the tenant petitioner has occupied for less than 30 
days. 

□ The unit is in a building that was previously issued a certificate of exemption from RAP based on substantial rehabilitation. 
(Attach copy of Certificate of Exemption.) 

□ The unit is an accommodation in a hospital, convent, monastery, extended care facility, convalescent home, non-profit 
home for the aged, or dormitory owned and operated by an educational institution. (Attach documentation.) 

Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition 
Rev. 09/14/2022 

Page 2 of 4 

000062



Use the chart(sl below to respond to the grounds stated in the Tenant Petition. Enter your position on each claim in the 
appropriate section(s) below. You may attach any documents, photographs, or other tangible evidence that support your 
position together with your response form. If you need more space, attach additional copies of this page or state your response 
in a separate sheet attached to this form. 

A. 
Complete this section if any of the grounds for the Tenant Petition fall under Category A on the Tenant Petition. 

List all rent increases given within the past five years, starting with the most recent increase. 

11 the Tenant Petition is based on either of the following grounds, state your response in the space below or in a 
separate sheet attached to this form. 

(A2) 

(A3) 

B. 

Tenant did not receive proper notice, was not 
properly served, and/or was not provided with 
the required RAP form with rent increase(s). 

A government agency has cited the unit for 
serious health, safety, fire, or building code 
violations. 

grounds for the Tenant Petition fall under Category Bon the Tenant Petition. 

(B1) The owner is providing tenant(s) with fewer 
housing services and/or charging for services 
originally paid for by the owner. 

(B2) Tenant(s) is/are being unlawfully charged for 
utillties. 

Other 
C. 

Complete this section if any of the grounds for the Tenant Petition fall under Category Con the Tenant Petition. 

(C1) 

(C2) 

(C3) 

Rent was not reduced after a prior rent increase 
period for capital improvements. 

Owner exemption based on fraud or mistake. 

Tenant's initial rent amount was unlawful 
because owner was not permitted to set initial 
rent without limitation (O.M.C. § 8.22.080 (C)). 

Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition 
Rev. 09/14/2022 

:~-;;~;i;~_1'i!\~~:'~:;~~~,\~!:t;_ ••• ,~!'itlii'''' 

Page 3 of 4 

000063



I/We declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws of the State of California that everything I/we said in 

thPJ.Jd that all of the documents attached to the response are true copies ::~:~:~iginals. 

Property Owner 1 Signature Date 

Property Owner 2 Signature Date 

Check the box below if you agree to have RAP staff and the OTHER PARTY/IES send you documents related to your 
case electronically. If you agree to electronic service, the RAP may send certain documents only electronically and not 
by first class mail. 

□ I/We consent to receiving notices and documents in this matter from the RAP and from the OTHER 
PARTY/IES electronically at the email address(es) provided in this response. 

Mediation is an optional process offered by RAP to assist parties in settling the issues related to their Rent Adjustment 
case as an alternative to the formal hearing process. A trained third party will work with the parties prior to the hearing 
to see if a mutual agreement can be reached. If a settlement is reached, the parties will sign a binding agreement and 
there will not be a formal hearing. If no settlement is reached, the case will go to a formal hearing with a Rent 
Adjustment Hearing Officer, who will then issue a hearing decision. 

Mediation will only be scheduled if both parties agree to mediate. Sign below if you agree to mediation in your case. 

I agree to have the case mediated by a Rent Adjustment Program staff mediator. 

Property Owner Signature Date 

If English is not your primary language, you have the right to an interpreter in your primary language/dialect at the Rent 
Adjustment hearing and mediation session. You can request an interpreter y completing this section. 

□ I request an interpreter fluent in the following 
language at my Rent Adjustment proceeding: 

□ Spanish (Espanol) 
D Cantonese (Jlj:~) 

□ Mandarin (t/fimti!D 
□ Other: __________ _ 

-END OF RESPONSE-

Property Owner Response to Tenant Petition 
Rev. 09/1412022 

Page 4 of 4 

000064



CITY OF OAKLAND For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(5 I 0) 238-372 I 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY 
ATTACHMENTS) ON THE TENANT(S) PRIOR TO FILING YOUR RESPONSE WITH RAP. 

1) Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner of seNice and the person(s) seNed. 

2) Note: Email is not a form of allowable seNice on a party of a petition or response pursuant to the Ordinance. 
3) Provide a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the person(s) being seNed together with the 

documents being seNed. 
4) File a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form with RAP together with your Response. Your 

Response will not be considered complete until this form has been filed indicating that seNice has occurred. 

On the following date: _1_/ __ ~_1.___12023 I served a copy of (check all that apply): 

□ PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION plus __ attached pages 
(number of pages attached to Response not counting the Response form or PROOF OF 
SERVICE) 

□ Other: -------------------
by the following means (check one): 

l:il United States Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to the 
person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with the 
United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

□ Personal Service. I personally delivered the document(s) to the person(s) at the address(es) 
listed below or I left the document(s) at the address(es) with some person not younger than 18 
years of age. 

PERSONIS\ SERVED· 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Address 

o,. ""'·"' 

Proof of Service 
Rev. 5/21/2021 

Maria Barragan 

2031 69th ave #C 

Oakland, Ca, 94621 

Page 1 of 2 

000065



I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct. 

Ahmed Said 

PRINTED NAME 

Ai-Pfl 
SIGNATURE 

Proof of Service 
Rev. 5/21/2021 

1/31/23 

DATE SIGNED 

Page 2 of 2 

000066



IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
REGARDING FILING YOUR RESPONSE 

TIME TO FILE YOUR RESPONSE 

Your Property Owner Response form must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program within 35 days after 
the Tenant Petition was mailed to you (30 days if the Petition was delivered in-person). RAP staff cannot grant 
an extension of time to file. 

CONTACT A HOUSING COUNSELOR TO REVIEW YOUR RESPONSE BEFORE SUBMITTING 

To make an appointment, email RAP@oaklandca.gov or call (510) 238-3721. Although the Housing Resource 
Center is temporarily closed for drop-in services, assistance is available by email or telephone. 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED IN SUPPORT OF RESPONSE 

All attachments submitted together with your Response must be numbered sequentially. You may submit 
additional evidence in support of your Response up to seven days before your hearing. 1 You must serve a 
copy of any documents filed with RAP on the other party and submit a PROOF OF SERVICE form. 

REMINDER: Once a petition and its attachments are submitted to the RAP they become public records. 
Please redact any private information (such as social security numbers, bank account numbers, credit card 
numbers and similar financial data) from the documents you submit as part of this petition. If you have any 
questions, you may contact RAP staff by phone at (510) 238-3721 or by email at RAP@oaklandca.gov. 

Additionally, all documents submitted to the RAP, including but not limited to emails, petitions, attachments, 
potential evidence, text messages, screen shots, etc .. are a part of the file in your case and all parties to a 
case are entitled to have access to this information. 

SERVICE ON TENANT(S) 

You are required to serve a copy of your Property Owner Response form (plus any attachments) on the tenant or 
the tenant's representative and submit a PROOF OF SERVICE form together with your Response. 

(1) Serve a copy of your Response on the tenant(s) by mail or personal delivery. 
(2) Complete a PROOF OF SERVICE form (included in this Response packet and available on RAP 

website) indicating the date and manner of service and the person(s) served. 
(3) Provide the tenant with a completed copy of the PROOF OF SERVICE form together with the 

document(s) being served. 
( 4) File a completed copy of the PROOF OF SERVICE form together with your Response when 

submitting to RAP. 

You may serve the tenant(s) and/or the tenant's representative by mail or personal delivery. A copy of the 
completed PROOF OF SERVICE form must be submitted to RAP together with your Response. Your Response 
will not be considered complete until a PROOF OF SERVICE form is filed indicating that the tenant has been 
served. Note that you cannot serve a Response by email, even if you have an agreement to electronic service 
between the parties, because the Ordinance requires service by mail or in person. 

FILING YOUR RESPONSE 

Although RAP normally does not accept filings by email or fax, RAP Is temporarily accepting Responses via 
email during the COVID-19 local state of emergency. You may also fill out and submit your Response 
online through the RAP website or deliver the Response to the RAP office by mail. If the RAP office is 
closed on the last day to file, the time to file is extended to the next day the office is open. If you send your 

1 Note that certain documents are required to be submitted with the Response. See Response form for details. 

Information Sheet 
Rev. 5/21/2021 

Page 1 of 2 

000067



Response by mail, a postmark date does not count as the date it was received. Remember to file a PROOF 
OF SERVICE form together with your Response. 

Via email: 

Mail to: 

File online: 

In person: 

hearinqsunit@oaklandca.gov 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Ste. 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

https://www.oaklandca.gov/services/respond-to-a-tenant-petition-for-the-rent· 
adjustment-program 

TEMPORARILY CLOSED 
City of Oakland 
Dalziel Building, 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza Suite 
5313 Reception area 
Use Rent Adjustment date-stamp to stamp your documents to verify timely 
delivery and place them in RAP self-service drop box. 

AGREEMENT TO ELECTRONIC SERVICE 

If you have agreed to electronic service from the RAP by signing the Consent to Electronic Service on 
page 4 of the response, you have agreed to receive electronic service from the Rent Adjustment Program 
only, and not from the other parties to the case. 

AFTER RESPONSE IS FILED 

In most cases, RAP will schedule a hearing to determine whether the Tenant Petition should be granted 
or denied. You will be mailed a Notice of Hearing indicating the hearing date. If you are unable to attend 
the hearing, contact RAP as soon as possible. The hearing will only be postponed for good cause. 

FILE/DOCUMENT REVIEW 

Either party may contact RAP to review the case file and/or to request copies of any documents 
pertaining to the case at any time prior to the scheduled hearing. 

FOR MORE INFORMATION 

Additional information on the petition and hearing process is located on the RAP website and in the Residential 
Rent Adjustment Program Ordinance and Regulations (see Oakland Municipal Code 8.22.010 et seq.). For more 
information on rent increases, including the list of the annual allowable CPI rates and calculators for certain 
justifications, see: https://www.oaklandca.gov/resources/learn-more-about-allowable-rent-increases, or you can 
refer to the Guide on Oakland Rental Housing Law at https://cao-94612.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/Guide
to-Oakland-Rental-Housing-Law-1.pdf. You may also contact a RAP Housing Counselor with questions at any 
time by emailing RAP@oaklandca.gov or calling (510) 238-3721. 

Information Sheet 
Rev. 5/21/2021 

Page 2 of 2 

000068



A BUSINESS TAX CERTIFICATE 
IS REQUIRED FOR EACH 

BUSINESS LOCATION AND IS 
NOT VALID FOR ANY OTHER 

ADDRESS. 

ALL OAKLAND BUSINESSES 

MUST OBTAIN A VALID 
ZONING CLEARANCE TO 

OPERATE YOUR BUSINESS 

LEGALLY. RENTAL OF REAL 
PROPERTY IS EXCLUDED 

FROM ZONING. 

PUBLIC INFORMATION ABOVE 
THIS LINE TO BE 

CONSPICUOUSLY POSTED! 

000069



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit Document Description                   Page Numbers 

T1 Rent Increase Notice (9/24/2022) 2-3

T2 Rent Increase Notice (12/1/2019) 4-10

T3 Rent Payment Receipts 

T4 Property Owner-Tenant Communications 

11-19

20-22

Page 1 of 22 000070



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T1 

Page 2 of 22 000071



Page 3 of 22

Ahmed Said 

2400 Market Suite B 

Oakland Ca, 94607 

111.e.J~ ~ 

Notice of Rent Increase 

Address: 2031 69th ave, Apt C Oakland Ca, 94621 

Dear tenant, 

On this 24th day of September 2022, the Landlord known as Ahmed Said is 
increasing your rent to $1,500. (One-Thousand Five-Hundred Dollars and No Cents) 
from its current rate of $1,300. This rental increase will be effective December 1st, 2022. 

The increase in rent will be applied due to high inflation rates that include 
increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as maintenance in addition to 
other factors. Please take into consideration that rent has remained $1,300 without any 
increases for years. If you have any questions, comments, or concerns, please feel free 
to call, text, or email me. 

Best Regards, 

Ahmed Said 

Ahmedmead@gmail.com 

(510) 812-3277 

000072



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T2 

Page 4 of 22 000073



Page 5 of 22

B 

l 

2 

J 

0() 
()C) • per mQn\\\ ... , 

0 YOUR SECUlllTV DEP0SIT Iha!\ be ,nacased from S 

_____ to s. ________ ., incr~ ol 

s ___ _ 
0 TOTAL AMOUNT DUE and payable b) the ""°'c su&.:d umc period· 

0 OTHER CHANGES: 

New Munchly Rone 

Other 

Tolall>w: 

s ____ _ 

s 
s. ____ _ 

s 

lixccpl for die~ clun,es. all Olhcr ICm1$ of your Rental Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

Dated: (MonlM>ay) W(,,-'~ \ 

By; _____ _ 

000074



Page 6 of 22

One..J21b 
enc,111,,. your,.,. ao,_._.,....M.11 .... (0. -... n... HUIICII 
Cenll) from a,n.,,t 000 00 

'· 2019 
The tontal lna1NS49S 

ncrease ot , .... ~-
othet t 

(110)812-3277 

beeflactiweDeOlltlOet 

fflAilntlllll'I.IIMN"III in addibof\ to 

s,.00000 

000075



Page 7 of 22

Learn More About CPI & 
Allowable Rent Increases 

( s SE rcu DCPARl'Mf r 

nu r CPZ au for r n 
2010, I S . h no p ' 
thanJufy 1, 2019. 

July 1. 201t: 3.51' 
July 1. 20!8. 3.4 
July 1, 2017: 2.3 
Jury 1. 2016: 2.0 
July 1, 2015; 1.7 
July 1., 2014: 1.9 
July 1. 2013: 2.196 
July I. 20 2: 3.0 

:n • S Cl 
COU Cl 

000076



Page 8 of 22

J 1: 2.0 
Ju iO. .? 
Ju 9: 0.7 
J : 3.2 
J 7: 3. • 

.. 002: 

3 
1 

, • 19 n O. 00 : p •r y • 

The •cp1 rate· ~a effect on ~July 1 and remains ,n effect through June 30 of the following yur. A property owner can raise rent above the CPI rat . based on cena n ju ification 

Bankmg 
rncreas d ou n rv,c cos 
Capuaf rrnp o ~men 
Uni, sur • rep ,, co 
F. r r tu ll 

Banking 

IICIJ-IS. AnlllMI Increases w..ra not -s>11111ea -.rn.,. fully or completely, can be pplied In futuf ,ors Propeny owners may defer applylng annual rent lncruses up to tOyears. Rent Increases that we, not Imposed with n 10 years expire. If challenged, evldenc of e rental history or the subject unit Is required. 
Banking Rent Increase Calculator Instructions 
Banking Rent lnc~ease Calculator 

000077



Page 9 of 22 000078



Page 10 of 22

co 

, 
000079



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T3 

Page 11 of 22 000080



Page 12 of 22

0 

~ 

__ _,...,,,,,.._ ,o _____ , 

..._,:~~~-.No.276156 
s 1.111. eo 

000081



Page 13 of 22

o ______ , 

o,_, 03 { o i/-.:,:_-----, ___ """"-'-=-=- No. 2? 6 
s 

000082



Page 14 of 22

~ ~ 

-===='---==c:. ====='lr,tt t, '°" J C4 ,=----,,.__._.,_: .---,..-__:..~ 

·===-----T0===----.1 

s1=o!l '-)..=-=== No. 2 7 6 7 9 
~ ~'-",-__--==-=---

~J.,U. ~ ~-----~. -~'"--=-~-'-'~--=~ 

o TE t> 6 ,.,_ No. 2 7 6 2 0 
o ~, (?a,,.. t1 I, JrAJ ... -----~~;:;.:..:.;~111c:.-11 

~~ 

' 
000083



Page 15 of 22

No.276 

C "lllclMd CA '1 '1 h1 

0==-----

000084



Page 16 of 22

< 

12:53 

Review 

• 

Ahmed Said (APARTMENTS) 
Registered as AHMED 

% (510) 812-3277 

Amount 

$1,300.00 

Cane 

Sending as CARMEN LIZBETH ORNELAS BARRAGAN 

Pay from TOTAL CHECKING ( ... 3515) 

Send on Nov 1, 2022 

Memo 2031 69th Ave #C Oakland Ca 

Only send money to people and businesses you trust. 
Zelle® doesn't offer protection for payments you 
authorize, so you might not be able to get your 
money back once you send it. 

Send it now 

000085



Page 17 of 22

< 

2:06 

Review 

• 

Ahmed Said (APARTMENTS) 
Registered as AHMED 

% (510) 812-3277 

Amount 

$1,500.00 

Cancel 

Sending as CARMEN LIZBETH ORNELAS BARRAGAN 

Pay from TOTAL CHECKING ( ... 3515) 

Send on Dec 02, 2022 

Memo 2031 69th ave #C Oakland Ca 94621 

Only send money to people and businesses you trust. 
Zelle® doesn't offer protection for payments you 
authorize, so you might not be able to get your 
money back once you send it. 

Send it now 

000086



Page 18 of 22

< Review 

• 

Ahmed Said (APARTMENTS) 
Registered as AHMED 

% (510) 812-3277 

Amount 

$1,500.00 

Cancel 

Sending as CARMEN LIZBETH ORNELAS BARRAGAN 

Pay from TOTAL CHECKING ( ... 3515) 

Send on Jan 02, 2023 

Only send money to people and businesses you trust. 
Zelle® doesn't offer protection for payments you 
authorize, so you might not be able to get your 
money back once you send it. 

Send it now 

000087



Page 19 of 22

< 

8:48 ,1 ~ Ct.J• 

Review 

• 

Ahmed Said (APARTMENTS) 
Registered as WEST OAKLAND 

Z INVESTMENTS LLC, OAKLAND, CA 

(510) 812-3277 

Amount 

$1,500.00 

Cancel 

Sending as CARMEN LIZBETH ORNELAS BARRAGAN 

Pay from TOTAL CHECKING ( ... 3515) 

Send on Feb 03, 2023 

Memo 2031 69th ave apt C Oakland Ca 94621 

Only send money to people and businesses you trust. 
Zelle® doesn't offer protection for payments you 
authorize, so you might not be able to get your 
money back once you send it. 

Send it now 

000088



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit T� 

Page 20 of 22 000089



Page 21 of 22

Ahmed Said 

2400 Market st Suite B, 

Oakland Ca, 94607 

To all tenants, 

meJ1t~ We 

Rent Payment Method 

Starting November 1st, 2022, we will no longer be accepting monthly rental payments by cash. 

You have the following methods of payment to choose from: 

1. Online payment via Zelle 

2. CasbApp 

For any comments or concerns, please feel free to contact me via phone, or email. 

Ahmed Said 

(510) 812-3277 

ahmedmead@gmail.com 

x~~--M__..___.,.. _ Date_l_D /_t_/_J-_d--__ 

000090



Page 22 of 22

To Whom It May Concern, 

Maria Barragn has been residing at 2031 69th ave, Oakland Ca, 94621 for 10 years. She is a 
wonderful tenant, and pays on time every month. She also cleans up around the building and 
makes the property a better place. 

x. ________________________ _ 
(Tenant) 

X:__L.(_1_--~----

(Landlord) 

,I 

000091



 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 
 
 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 
 
NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 
 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served.  

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served.  

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 
 
PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 
 
I served a copy of:      ____________________________ 

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

 
and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 
 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

 
 
PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission (Case No. T23-0019)

22

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St., Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

CITY OF OAKLAND 

✓ 

000092



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000093



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

2  28 2023

Gregory Ching

February 28, 2023

000094



CITY OF OAKLAND

NOTICE OF INCOMPLETE OWNER RESPONSE 

CASE NUMBER:  

CASE NAME:  

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 

T23-0019 

 

031 9  Avenue, Unit  Oakland, CA 9 1 

The Rent Adjustment Program (hereinafter “RAP”) received a Property Owner Response from 
you on e ruar  1, 2023 

To be complete and considered filed, a response by a property owner must include:1 

a. Proof of payment of the City of Oakland Business License Tax;

b. proof of payment of the Rent Program Service Fee;2

c. Evidence that the Owner has provided the RAP Notice to all Tenants affected by the
petition or response.3

d. A substantially completed petition on the form prescribed by the RAP signed under
oath;

e. For a rent increase, organized documentation clearly showing the rent increase
justification and detailing the calculations to which the documentation pertains. For an
exemption, organized documentation showing your right to the exemption.

f. For all owner responses, the Owner must provide proof of service by first class mail or
in person of the response and any supporting documents on the tenants of all units
affected by the petition. (Note that if the supporting documents exceed 25 pages, the
Owner is not required to serve the supporting documents on the affected tenants provided
that the owner petition was served as required and the petition or attachment indicates

1 See O.M.C. § 8.22.090 (B). 
2 See O.M.C. § 8.22.500. 
3 This can be done initially by affirming that all notices have been sent but may require additional evidence if the 
statement is contested. 

DALZIEL BUILDING • 250 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, SUITE 5313 • OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 94612-2034 

Housing and Community Development Department 
Rent Adjustment Program 

TEL (510) 238-3721 
FAX (510)238-6181 

CA Relay Service 711 

000095



2 | P a g e

that the additional documents are or will be available at the RAP and that the Owner will 
provide copies of the supporting documents to the tenant upon written request within 10 
days.)  

The response that you attempted to file was incomplete. The chart below indicates what is 
missing from your filing: 

Name of Document Needed 
Proof of service of the response (and attachments where 
required) by first class mail or in person on all tenants in 
units affected by the response 

 X 

Proof of payment of Business License Tax.  X 

Proof of payment of the RAP Fee.  X 

   

You have 30 days from the date of the mailing of this letter to provide a completed response. If 
you do not do so, your response will be dismissed. Since your response is incomplete, the RAP 
cannot accept the response, and any scheduled hearing will be postponed, if scheduled to occur 
in less than 30 days.  

If you have any questions or concerns, consult RAP by email or phone. The email address is 
lothlen@oakalndca.gov, and the telephone number is 510-238-3721. 

Dated:  e ruar  2 , 2023 City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000096



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Notice of Incomplete Owner Response

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

Tenant             
Reyes Ornelas            
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C         
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on  , 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000097



CITY OF OAKLAND  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 

CASE NUMBER    T23-0019 
 
CASE NAME:    Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS:  2031 69th Avenue, Unit C  
       Oakland, CA 
 
PARTIES:     Maria Barragan, Tenant 
 

 
SUMMARY OF DECISION 

 
The Tenant’s Petition is granted. 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
Reason for Administrative decision: An Administrative Decision is issued 
without a hearing. The purpose of a hearing is to allow the parties to present 
testimony and other evidence to allow the resolution of disputes of material fact. 
However, in this case, sufficient uncontested facts have been presented to issue a 
decision without a hearing, and no material facts are disputed. Therefore, an 
administrative decision, without a hearing, is being issued.  
 

BACKGROUND 
 
On January 23, 2023, the Tenant filed the petition herein. The petition contests rent 
increases alleged from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, effective December 1, 2019, and 
from $1,300.00 to $1,500.00, effective December 2022, on the grounds that the 
rent increase exceeds the legally allowable amount. 

DALZIEL BUILDING • 250 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, SUITE 5313 • OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 94612-2034 

Housing and Community Development Department 
Rent Adjustment Program 

TEL (510) 238-3721 
FAX (510)238-6181 

CA Relay Service 711 

000098



2 | P a g e  
 

The petition, completed under penalty of perjury, indicates that that Tenant was 
never given a RAP Notice,1 including with the Notices of Rent Increase 
challenged. 
 
The Owner filed an Owner Response on February 1, 2023.  A Notice of 
Incomplete Owner Response was sent to the Respondent on February 28, 2023.2 
The Respondent was given 35 days to file the necessary documents and a proof of 
service of their petition. To date, no new documents were filed, no proof of service 
was filed, and the response was not completed.  Therefore, the response cannot be 
considered filed and complete. Accordingly, any documentation submitted with the 
response is inadmissible.3  
 

RATIONALE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 
2019 Rent Increase 
 
The Rent Adjustment Ordinance (Ordinance) requires an owner to serve a RAP 
Notice at the start of a tenancy4 and with any notice of rent increase or change in 
any term of the tenancy.5   An owner may cure the failure to give notice at the start 
of the tenancy. However, a notice of rent increase is not valid if the effective date 
of increase is less than six months after the Tenant first receives the required RAP 
notice.6 
 
It is undisputed that the Tenant moved into the subject unit in 2013. The petition 
was filed under penalty of perjury and states that the Tenant was not given a RAP 
Notice including with the Notices of Rent Increase challenged.  Accordingly, there 
is no evidence that the Tenant received the RAP Notice at the inception of the 
tenancy or with the rent increases challenged.  Therefore, it is found that the 
Tenant has not been provided with a RAP Notice. Accordingly, the Notice of Rent 
Increase from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, is invalid. Accordingly, the legal rent for the 
subject unit remained at $1,000.00. 
 
2022 Rent Increase 
 
Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 CMS, adopted on March 27, 2020, states 
as follows at Section 4:  

 
1 Notice to Tenants of the Residential Rent Adjustment Program. 
2 O.M.C. Section 8.22.090(B) 
3 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070(C). Santiago v. Vega, Case 
4 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060. 
5 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070. 
6 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060(C) 

000099



3 | P a g e  
 

 
Rent Increase Moratorium.  
For rental units regulated by Oakland Municipal Code 
8.22.010 et seq, any notice of rent increase in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment, as defined in Oakland Municipal 
Code Section 8.22.020, shall be void and unenforceable if 
the notice is served or has an effective date during the Local 
Emergency, unless required to provide a fair return. Any 
notice of rent increase served during the Local Emergency 
shall include the following statement in bold underlined 12-
point font: “During the Local Emergency declared by 
the City of Oakland in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of 
the CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), 
unless required for the landlord to obtain a fair return. 
You may contact the Rent Adjustment Program at 
(510.) 238—37.21 for additional information and 
referrals.” 

 
When the Rent Increase Moratorium was enacted, the CPI Rent Adjustment was 3-
5%. The Moratorium clearly states that this CPI is in effect “until June 30, 2020.” 
As of July 1, 2022, the CPI Rent Adjustment is 3%. The Local Emergency remains 
in the City of Oakland. Therefore, increasing the Tenant’s base rent above 3%, or 
$30.00, violates the Moratorium. Therefore, the Owner’s Notice of Rent Increase 
of $200.00 is invalid.  Additionally, the Notice of Rent Increase did not include the 
required statement in bold, underlined 12-point font, and is likewise on this basis 
invalid as well.   
 
Notwithstanding, whether the Tenant was served the RAP Notice with the 2022 
Rent Increase, the increase would still be invalid since the amount of the increase 
violated the Moratorium.  Accordingly, the legal rent for the subject unit remained 
at $1,000.00. 
 

ORDER 

 
1. Petition T23-0019 is granted. 
 
2. The legal rent for the subject unit remains $1,000.00. 

 

000100



4 | P a g e

3. The 2019 and 2022 rent increases are not valid.  The legal rent for the
subject unit remains at $1,000.00.  If the Tenant paid an amount over the legal rent
for the subject unit, the parties are instructed to calculate the total rent
overpayment and deduct the credit amount in thirty or fewer monthly installments
from the Tenant’s monthly rent after this decision becomes final.  The decision
becomes final if no party files an appeal within 20 days after the decision is mailed
to the parties.

4. The Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing, scheduled for April 12,
2023, is canceled.

Right to Appeal:  This decision is the final decision of the Rent Adjustment 
Program Staff. Either party may appeal this decision by filing a properly 
completed appeal using the form provided by the Rent Adjustment Program. 
The appeal must be received within seventeen (17) calendar days of electronic 
service or twenty (20) days if served by first-class mail. If the last day to file is a 
weekend or holiday, the appeal may be filed on the next business day. The date and 
service method are shown on the attached Proof of Service.   

Dated:  April 5, 2023 Élan Consuella Lambert 
Hearing Officer 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000101



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Administrative Decision

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

e e  Ornela  
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on Apirl 6, 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000102



CITY OF OAKLAND For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

Appellant's Name 

Ahmed Said 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov RAP 

APPEAL 

Property Address (Include Unit Number) 

2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, Ca 94621 

Appellant's Mailing Address (For receipt of notices) 

2400 Market St Suite B, Oakland, Ca 94607 

Name of Representative (if any) 

IKl Owner D Tenant 

Case Number 
T23-0019 

Date of Decision appealed 

April 18th, 2023 

Representative's Mailing Address (For 
notices) 

Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must 
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed 
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation. 

1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. (Please clearly 
explain the math/clerical errors.) 

2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required): 

a) D The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations, or prior 
decisions of the Board. (In your explanation, you must identify the Ordinance section, 
Regulation or prior Board decision(s) and describe how the description is inconsistent.) 

b) D The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your 
explanation, you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is 
inconsistent.) 

c) D The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your 
explanation, you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be 
decided in your favor.) 

d) D The decision violates federal, state, or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a 
detailed statement as to what law is violated.) 

e) D The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must 
explain why the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.) 

Revised January I 0, 2022 

000103



f) 00 I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner's 
claim. (In your explanation, you must describe how you were denied the chance to defend your 
claims and what evidence you would have presented. Note that a hearing is not required in every 
case. Staff may issue a decision without a hearing if sufficient facts to make the decision are not 
in dispute.) 

g) □ The decision denies the Owner a fair return on the Owner's investment. (You may appeal on 
this ground only when your underlying petition was based on a fair return claim. You must specifically 
state why you have been denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.) 

h) 00 Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.) 

Supporting documents (In addition to this form) must not exceed 25 pages, and must be received by 
the Rent Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on the opposing party, within 15 days of 
the filing of this document. Only the first 25 pages of submissions from each party will be considered by the 
Board, subject to Regulations 8.22.01 0(A)(4). Please number attached pages consecutively. Number of 
pages attached:~-

• You must serve a copy of your appeal on the opposing parties, or your appeal may be dismissed.• 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that on April 18th , 20.lL, 
I placed a copy of this form, and all attached pages, in the United States mail or deposited it with a commercial 
carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first-class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, 
addressed to each opposing party as follows: 

.t:iilmJl Maria Barragan 

!ddc~&& 2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 

Ceil¥, Siai~ Zig Oakland, Ca 94621 

ti.ilmA Reyes Ornelas 

!ddtl:i& 2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 

~ii¥, siai~ Zig Oakland, Ca 94621 

I SE:f;QESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE 

4/18/23 

DATE 

Revised January 10, 2022 

000104



CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
CA Relay Service 71 I 
www.oaklandca.gov!RAP 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

► Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served. 

► Provide a~ of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served. 

► File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

► Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

I served a copy of: Appeal to Tenants' Submission (Case No. T23-0019) 
(insert name of document served) 

□ And Additional Documents 

and (write number of attached pages) 25 attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 

~ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

D b. Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

D c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

PERSON($) SERVED· 

Name Maria Barragan 

Address 2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 

City, State, Zip Oakland, Ca, 94621 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

000105



Name Reyes Ornelas 

Address 2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 

City, State, Zip Oakland, Ca, 94621 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Address 

CHy, State, Zlp 

1~me 
Address 

CHy, state, z;p 

Address 

Qty, State, Zlp 

To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and Insert ln your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
ProofofService Form 10.21.2020 

000106



I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on _j _j __ (insert date served). 

Ahmed Said 

SIGNATURE 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proofof Service Form 10.21.2020 

04/18/23 

DATE 

-3-

000107



Page 1 of 25 
Appeal to Tenant Submission 

Pages 1-6 Response to appeal decision 

Page? Email/photo of letter to tenant 

Pages: 8-9 Copies of Roofing Work Order & Invoice 

Pages 10-13 Picture of roof/work completed 

Page 14 Extension cord 

Page 15 New Balcony Door 

Pages 16-20 Texts & photos of tenants not meeting 
their end of agreement 

Pages 21-22 Unpermitted structure built without 
consent 

Pages 23-25 Article for allowable increases per city 
website 

000108



Response to Appeal Decision 
Case Number: T23-0019 
Case Name: Barragen et al v. Mead Holding LLC 

Page 2 of25 

F) I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim because a decision 
was made without giving me an opportunity to be heard. 

BACKGROUND 
Where does it show that Reyes and Maria were paying $1,000 for monthly rent when 
they moved in? The reason we are appealing this is because the tenants and I had an 
agreement when they first moved in that the monthly rent would be $1,300, but if they 
were to pull out the garbage bins every Monday for all 6 units, and keep the front and 
backyard clean, then they would pay $1,000, Qiliyjf they were able to hold up their end 
of the agreement. 
Also, we provided the tenants (Maria and Reyes Ornelas) a storage room for free, and 
they grew frustrated when we requested that extra storage space to expand the 
laundry room for the building. We then notified them through text that we were going to 
need that area to expand the laundry room for all tenants, which we did. 

1. When the service was no longer being provided as agreed upon, we wrote to all 
tenants informing them to pull out their own garbage bins, and that we'd clean 
around the property. 

2. The tenants had an extra refrigerator attached to our house meter using an 
extension cord without our consent. The extension cord poses a high risk as it 
could have led to a fire endangering the lives of those around them, and an 
increase in our monthly electricity bill. 

3. The tenants also had 7 people living in the unit which cost us more water, but we 
never complained. 

4. Since 2031 69th avenue is a commercial property, the fire department conducts 
an annual inspection in search of any violations that put individuals at risk. The 
tenants built a structure on the balcony without consent, and that structure was 
cited as a violation by the fire department. 

5. Each unit has ONE parking spot allocated to them for their use, allowing them to 
park up to one vehicle in the parking lot. The Barragan family have violated this 
several times as they park their vehicles in prohibited areas, given that there is a 
parking spot already provided to them. All tenants with more than 1 vehicle must 
use street parking. 

6. Capital improvements to a building shall be passed on to the tenant as a prorated 
charge. A landlord is able to increase the rent due to capital improvements made 

000109



Page 3 of25 
to the building. In November 2022, we changed the roof, windows, balcony door, 
and made repairs for a total of $40,000. ln the article titled "Learn More About 
Allowable Rent Increases", uninsured repair costs are losses that are not 
reimbursed to the property owner related to disasters. We made several 
upgrades to the property in preparation for the record breaking rainstorms to 
ensure our tenants' living space(s) were tolerable. 

Rent Increase Moratorium 
1. At the inception of their tenancy, we provided the tenants with an RAP notice. 

The tenants claiming that they were not able to retain the notice that was 
provided to them may be due to the fact that they moved in 10 years ago. A final 
decision was made that "the rent increase" in 2019 is invalid. This decision was 
unfair because the rent was not increased, it was set back at its original amount. 

2. In response to page 5 of 22: 
- As stated before, the rent was not increased. The monthly rent was set back to 

its original amount that we agreed to when they moved in, at $1,300.00 well 
before the rent increase moratorium was in effect. In 2019, we provided the 
tenants with a 60 day notice that the rent would return to its original amount of 
$1,300 because they were no longer providing their services. We presented the 
tenants with an official 60 day notice because we are aware that notifying tenants 
for any purpose must be done in writing. 

H) Other 
I have been denied a fair investigation because the tenants and I had an initial 
agreement when they first moved in that the rent due each month would be 
$1,300. We had a verbal agreement that their rent payable for each month would 
be $1,000 IF they provided those services. Once the services weren't provided 
any longer, we provided the tenants with a notice over 60 days prior to the 
amount going into effect. We DID NOT increase the rent to $1,300, rather the rent 
was set back to its original amount that we agreed to when they first moved in. 
According to page 3 of the Proof of Service from the tenant, it is stated that the 
notice of rent increase is not in bold, or 12 point font, which is false. We 
specifically balded the notice of rent increase statement, and used 12 point font 
on both letters. We issued the tenants two letters: one in English, and another in 
Spanish because Spanish is their primary language. Providing a letter in both 
languages was to ensure effective communication. Nothing was withheld from 
them because we did nothing wrong. 

000110



Page 4 of25 
Increased housing service costs 

- Attached below is a breakdown of operating expenses due to keep the building 
running, and to allow all utilities to function and meet the needs of our tenants. 
Please refer to the Increased housing service costs attached on pages 23-25. 

1. PG&E Monthly Bill: $400.00 
PG&E bill Annually: $3,600 

2022 Expenses 

2. EBMUD Monthly Bill: $450.00 
EBMUD Bill Annually: $5,400.00 

3. Waste Management Monthly Bill: $376.23 
Waste Management Annually: $4,514.76 

4. Property Tax Monthly: $1,298.64 
Property Tax Annually: $15,583.78 

5. City Tax Monthly: $159.30 
City Tax Annually: $1,911.64 

6. Rent Adjustment Program: $101 per unit 
(6 units) : $606.00 

7. Property Insurance Monthly: $208.33 
Property Insurance Annually: $2,500 

8. Mortgage Expense Monthly: $2,800 
Mortgage Expenses Annually: $33,600 

9. Pest Control Per Month: $100 
Pest Control Per Year: $1,200 

10. Landscaping Per Month: $100 
Landscaping Per Year: $1,200 

11. MGMT fees Per month: $400 
MGMT fees per year: $4,800 

000111



12. Software Subscription month: $50.00 
Software Subscription Per Year: $600 

Monthly Expenses Total: $6,393.00 
Annual Expenses Total: $75,516.18 

Page 5 of 25 

-How can the rent be set at $1,000 after 10 years without any increases? During the 
pandemic, city officials allowed tenants to withhold rent for months, or even years at a 
time, but landlords were still expected to pay City tax, RAP fee, and other taxes. It's 
unfortunate that city officials sitting behind a desk are able to make final decisions for a 
landlord, or any business owner without taking the full story into account. 
-On September 24, 2022, we notified the tenants through letters in both Spanish and 
English that the rent would be increased from $1,300 to $1,500 due to increased 
operating expenses, giving them over 60 days. According to the City of Oakland article 
titled "Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases", rent increases that exceed the CPI 
increase may be justified for: 

1. CPI, banking, and capital improvements can be passed through as a rent 
increase in a single petition. 

2. Landlords cannot apply a rent increase based on a CPI increase with an increase 
based on increased housing service costs or fair return. Increased housing 
service costs or fair housing justifications replace the CPI increase. Refer to the 
attachment on pages 23-25. 

In response to page 22 of 22: In July 2022, Maria Barragan requested a letter from me 
claiming that she needed a letter of proof from her landlord for immigration purposes. I 
was only doing Ms. Barragan a favor so that she wouldn't encounter any issues 
regarding her immigration status. She fraudulently used immigration as an excuse to 
receive a recommendation letter from me, that is now being used against me. 

Closing Statement: We ask that you please do not make a decision without speaking 
to us. We are appealing because we did everything within the law, and our zoom 
meeting scheduled for Wednesday, April 12th regarding the landlord/tenant hearing was 
canceled without proper notice. We were on zoom for 30 minutes for the scheduled 
hearing, but heard nothing back from the hearing officer. A final decision was sent 
through the mail without speaking to the landlord, so we ask that if our appeal is not 
granted, you may discuss further with my attorney. 

- Name: Josh P. Davis 
- Phone: (510) 207-2472 

000112



Page 6 of25 

000113



7 

A~ " 8or "it. f'\ 
~ ar C 

CA q'f,?I 

I Gmail AhmedS.id-udjtg ... ffCOffl> 

Re: T23-0019, Barragan v. Moad Holding LLC 

Ahmed Sold -Qur,,,,1 co,,,, 
To ~ 8t4tnt"' •Bl.ClffUMOn;.,► ... 'lOO< a (YI¥" 

Wo maHd tho l(lftMI a lelef Wtwlhllf !hoy r..:~td Iii Of re,(_ o, 8d W. a """Y did not ,~ l. we tent I\ 
t--•-""'""' 

Soot M.N-4 202311 tt 36AM 

000114



pq_l<l ~ o.f 
Mead Property Mgmt Work Order# 7-1 
2400 Market St suite B Status Assigned 
Oakland, CA 94607 

Created On 11/14/2022 Phone - (510) 812-3277 
Estimate Requested On 11/15/2022 

Estimate Amount $26,600.00 
To: 

Estimated On 11/16/2022 
Migael 

11/18/2022 Scheduled On 

Phone - (510) 200-1509 Completed On 11/23/2022 

Job Site 2031 69th ave 
2031 69th ave 
Oakland, CA 94621 

Pet(s) 

Tenant(s) 

No Current Tenant 

Tenant Availability 

Date Time 

Description 

Need to replace the roof for the property because the raining season is approaching. Migael will be 
available to start the work around November 18th. 

Vendor Instructions 

Company Name: MEX SOLUTIONS 
Phone Number: (510) 200-1509 

Created By: 

Authorized By: 

Signed By: 

Dated By: 

Invoice#: 

Technician's Notes: 

';)5 

000115



MEX SOLUTIONS ROOFING INVOICE 

LIC # 944015 
2685 DST 
HAYWARD CA 94541 
(650) 520-4816 

IJ! N• ,t; 

Ahmed Said 

2031 69th AVE 

Oakland, Ca 94621 

We hereby prooose to furnish the following w"lrk 

11/25/22 

(510) 812-3277 

,. ,, 

We did an inspection on the roof, and determined that it needed to be changed. We replaced the entire 

roof. It has a 25 year warranty. 

PROPOSED PAYMENT Owner agrees to pay Contractor a PROPOSED total cash price of S 26,600.00 _ __ Dollars 
OWNER represents that this agreement 1s a cash transaction 'Nherein no rinanc1ng 1s contemplated and rrintractor acts 1n reliance on said 
representation 

THE PAYMENT SCHEDULE Will BE AS FOLLOWS 

1 Down payment of S $7,000.00 2 PJf nl s, tlE .I ), ' lc11,s 

$7,000.00 on 11/20, and the remaining $12,600 due when the work is complete 

THIS IS A BID PROPOSAL WITH A GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT ANO COST IF THE BID PROPOSAL IS 
ACCEPTED, A MORE FORMALIZED CONTRACT Will BE PREPARED PROVIDING DETAILED TERMS ANO CONDITIONS 
INCLUDING ALL YOUR RIGHTS AND YOUR RIGHT TO CANCEL 

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL 
You are hereby authorized to return a formal contract between us to accomplish the w)rl<. des nbed ,n the above proposal for which the 
undersigned agrees to pay the amount stated 1n said rroposal and according to the terms thereof 

Gerardo Godinez 11/25/22 

000116



D 

El 

G 

N 
0 

.--
(') 

0 
~ 
in 

,._ O>_ 
QJ co 
C)N ,._ 
(1) • 

.0 ~ a; 0. 
C) Cl'> 
QJ If? 
I~ 
iN 

"C r

e -ro co 
- N 
~N 
ro o 
QN 

+ 

C')-
r-

Qj 
.0 
E 
Cl) 

> 
0 z 

000117



~ 
<-+ 
C) 

--
~ 

:--
~ 

+ Oakland - Hegenberger 
November 21, 2022 at 11:29:38 AM • 28,975 of 31,102 CD c!J Q □') ·~, Edit 

-~~~--> -· --~~ 

000118



CJ\ 
~ 

4- < 0 

ril 

t 
~ 

+ 
11/23/22, 2:58 PM 

28,998 of 31,102 
Save Shared Photo •t) 

From Migael Roofing On 24th St > 

c!:J 

000119



000120



0 
(1) 
0 
(1) 

J 
rr ,., 

0 
:, Q) 

~ 
Q) 
::, 

" Q. 

-.i I 
Cl) 

;o (.Q 
"J Cl) 

::, 

. 
0 

"' 

CT 
Cl) 

<O 
Cl) 
-, 

e 

G 

□., 

.•. 
/. 

000121



000122



10 08 , -:- I 
/6 O.f 

New iMessage Cancel 

To Apt #c 69th 

Me age 
Feb I 2021 4 PM 

This ,s how ,t should look please 

Apr 25 2021 a1 4 PM 

000123



• 10 07 ,, _,. ■ 

New iMessage Cancel 

~o Apt #c 69th 

Hi boss we're going to need the 
storage room for bigger laundry 
machines 

By when do you need it ? 

Ok 

Hi the storage room is cleaned 
out as of next week my dad wont 
be able to take out the trash 
thank you 

41611♦ 

Starting me next week everyone 
takes there own trash out or they 

pa7e._ 17 o-F '<)5 

000124



12:21 

< Oakland - Hegenberger 
April 25, 2021 1:11 PM Edit E) 

Uill 

000125



10:22 • "=" I 

< April 9, 2016 
10:41 AM Edit E) 

~LIVEv 

CJ Q CD 1llif 

000126



< 
,®LIVE v 

/ 
/ 

Oakland - Hegenberger 
March 6, 2022 1:10 PM 

...: 
I 

c!J Q CD 

,1 ? I ' 

Edit 0 

1illf 

000127



000128



i aca-prod.accela.comjOAKLAND/Cap/CapDetail.aspx?Module=Enforcement&TabName=Enfmcement&caplD1=17CAP&caplD2=00000&capl03=35213&agencyCode=OAKLAND&lsToShowlnspection= 

Home Building Planning ■@Hijd;•• Fire 

File a Complaint/Regjster a Property Search Complaint Records 

Record 1704847: 
Housing Habitability Complaint 
Record Status: Violation Verified 

Recotd Info 

203169TH AVE• 

94621 

Case Description: 

Cystom Component 

Aoartmcri~ bu•lo '"''1 ~s1by stri.tCtur.11 suppot1 and 

brac.rng w.:.;. done w·tt·-out l)(>f!T'•ts. 

► More Details 

fi Repon. ill v i Login 

~bol5eorcn_ 

cm 

~ 
~ 

'-Q r~ 

~ 
i 
~ 
V) 

000129



The "CPI rate" takes effect on each July 1 and remains in effect 

through June 30 of the following year. A property owner can raise 

rent above the CPI rate, based on certain justifications. 

• Banking 

• Increased housing service costs 

• Capital improvements 

• Uninsured repair costs 

• Fairreturn 

Banking 

Banking refers to deferred allowed annual rent increases. Annual rent 

increases that were not applied either fully or completely, can be 

applied in future years. Property owners may defer applying annual 

rent increases up to 10 years. Rent increases that were not imposed 

within 10 years expire. If challenged, evidence of the rental history of 

the subject unit is required. 

• Banking Rent Increase Calculator Instructions 

• Banking Rent Increase Calculator 

Increased housing service costs 

Housing service costs are expenses for services provided by the 

property owner. The costs are related to the use of a rental unit. These 

costs are also known as "operating expenses". 

If a tenant challenges a rent increase, the landlord must present 

evidence to prove all claimed expenses. Staff will compare the most 

recent two years of operating expenses to determine if a rent 

increase is justified. The calculation in both years must provide a 

reasonable comparison of all expenses. You may not isolate any 

https:JJwww.oaklandca.gov/resources/learn-more-about-allowable-rent-1ncreases 4/18/23, 10:47 AM 
Page 3 of 7 

000130



single expense. 

Expenses considered include: 

1. Business license and insurance, 

2. Utilities (electricity, gas, water, garbage) 

3. Maintenance and repairs 

4. Managerial costs 

5. Other legitimate annually recurring expenses to operate the rental 

property, except debt service 

• Increased Housing Costs Rent Increase Calculator 

Capital improvements 

Capital improvements include improvements to the property. A 

landlord may apply a rent increase to reimburse themselves for 

property improvements that benefit the tenants. Reimbursement is 

limited to 70% of the cost of the improvement amortized over its 

useful life. Property owners must also show that these costs were 

paid. Examples include: copies of receipts, invoices, bid contracts or 

other documentation. 

• CaP-ital lmP-rovements Rent Increase Calculator Instructions 

• CaP-ital lmgrovements Rent Increase Calculator 

Uninsured repair costs 

Uninsured repair costs are losses that are not reimbursed to the 

property owner. These losses are related to damage from fire, 

earthquake, or other disasters. These costs must be associated with 

repairs to meet state or local laws. An increase for uninsured repairs is 

calculated the same way as an increase for capital improvements. 

https.//www.oaklandca gov/resources/learn-more•about•allowable••~nt increases 4/18/23, 10 4 7 AM 
Page 4 or 7 

000131



Fair return 

A property owner may submit evidence to show that without the 

requested rent increase he or she is being denied a fair return on the 

investment. A property owner must show that the return on the 

investment is less than the return for an investment of similar risk. 

The property owner is required to provide three things. 

1. Proof of the amount of investment 

2. Evidence of the return from other investments of similar risk 

3. An analysis of the rate of return from the rental property, including 

any appreciation in the value of the property. 

Rent increases that exceed the CPI increase may be justified for one 

or more of the reasons listed. Owners may used more than one 

justification to increase the rent at the same time. 

• CPI, banking, and capital improvements can be passed through as 

a rent increase in a single petition. 

• Landlords cannot apply a rent increase based on a CPI increase 

with an increase based on increased housing service costs or fair 

return. Increased housing service costs or fair housing 

justifications replace the CPI increase. 

Rent increases that exceed the CPI increase may be valid for one or 

more of the reasons. Owners may combine more than one 

justification to increase the rent at the same time. 

• Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for 

a rent increase in one petition. 

• Landlords cannot combine CPI with increased housing service 

costs or fair return. 

• Increased housing service costs or fair housing justifications 

replace the CPI increase. 

https://www.oaklandca gov/resources/learn-more·abour allowable rent-increases 4/18/23, 10:47 AM 
Page 5 of 7 

000132



 

1 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Gregory T. Ching (SBN 330719) 
gching@centrolegal.org 
CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 
3400 E. 12th Street 
Oakland, CA  94601 
Telephone:  (510) 437-1554 
Facsimile:    (510) 255-6069 
 
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan 
 
 

OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
 

 
BARRAGAN, ET AL., 
 
  Tenant-Respondent, 
 
 vs. 
 
MEAD HOLDING LLC, 
 
  Property Owner-Appellant. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case No.: T23-0019 
 
TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA 
BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN 
SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
 
 
 
 

 

Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan hereby submits this brief in response to Appellant 

Mead Holding LLC’s appeal brief. 

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In notices dated September 12, 2019, and December 1, 2019, Tenant-Respondent Maria 

Barragan (“Tenant”) received a rent increase from Appellant Ahmed Said (doing business as 

Mead Holding LLC) (“Owner”), which imposed an increase from $1,000.00 per month to 

$1,300.00 per month (the “2019 Rent Increase”). On September 24, 2022, Tenant received 

another rent increase notice from Owner, raising Tenant’s rent from $1,300 per month to 

$1,500 per month (the “2022 Rent Increase”). Tenant has paid the corresponding demanded 

amounts for both the 2019 and 2022 Rent Increases, as demonstrated in the Tenant Evidence 

Submission in this action. Neither the 2019 Rent Increase nor the 2022 Rent Increase included 

proper notice, and both were in excess of the allowable CPI Rent Adjustment. 

000133



 

2 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Upon learning of the illegality of the rent increases, Tenant timely filed a Tenant 

Petition in the above-captioned action. Tenant served on Owner and timely filed with the Rent 

Adjustment Program the Tenant Evidence Submission on February 28, 2023. The Tenant 

Evidence Submission included copies of the 2019 Rent Increase Notice, the 2022 Rent Increase 

Notice, Tenant rent payment receipts, and signed correspondence from Owner. 

Owner filed two separate Owner Responses in this action prior to this appeal. The first 

submitted response was dated January 31, 2023. Analyst Brittni Lothlen sent a Notice of 

Incomplete Owner Response to Owner and to all affected Parties to this action on February 28, 

2023, noting that Owner did not provide proper proof of service, proof of payment of the 

Business License Tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. Owner filed a second Response, 

with proof of service dated March 31, 2023. 

On April 5, 2023, Hearing Officer Elan Consuella Lambert issued a decision granting 

the Tenant Petition. In coming to her decision, the Hearing Officer noted that there was no 

evidence that Tenant received the required RAP Notice either at the inception of her tenancy or 

with the 2019 Rent Increase. The Hearing Officer also noted that the 2022 Rent Increase did 

not abide by the requirements of Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 C.M.S. (the “Oakland 

Moratorium” or “Rent Increase Moratorium”) because the 2022 Rent Increase Notice imposed 

an increase in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment of 3%, and because the Notice did 

not include the required moratorium statement. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Owner has asserted a number of arguments that misunderstand the requirements for rent 

increases under the Oakland Municipal Code. Owner mischaracterizes the nature of the 2019 

Rent Increase, and premises such mischaracterization on false allegations. Owner also attempts 

to confuse the issues by raising arguments and allegations for the first time that should have 

been raised in Owner’s Responses and not on Appeal. These arguments and allegations go 

beyond the scope of the Petition and this Appeal. 

/ / / 

000134



 

3 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. Owner Was Not Denied a Sufficient Opportunity to Be Heard  

Owner argues that the decision was issued without giving Owner a sufficient 

opportunity to be heard. This argument is premised on an incorrect understanding of the law. 

First, Owner was not denied a sufficient opportunity to be heard because Owner had 

sufficient time to file an Owner Response and assert any defenses he may have had at that time. 

In fact, Owner filed two (2) separate Owner Responses: the first, on January 31, 2023; and, 

after receiving the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response, a second on March 31, 2023. Owner 

had over 60 days to present counterarguments, as the Tenant Petition was filed on January 20, 

2023. A property owner’s filed response to a tenant petition will be considered by the hearing 

officer. Owner’s two filed Owner Responses constitute an opportunity to be heard. The fact that 

Owner is unhappy that his two Responses were insufficient to defend against Tenant’s 

meritorious claims, and that the Hearing Officer held that the Petition could be decided by 

Administrative Decision, does not constitute a denial of a sufficient opportunity to be heard. 

Owner was heard through his Responses. 

Second, a hearing is not required in all RAP cases. The Oakland Municipal Code 

empowers Hearing Officers with the authority to issue a decision without a hearing. Oakland 

Mun. Code § 8.22.110(F). A Hearing Officer may issue such an administrative decision where, 

among other things: the petition or response forms have not been properly completed or 

submitted; the petition or response forms have not been filed in a timely manner; the required 

prerequisites to filing a petition or response have not been met; or when, “[t]he petition and 

response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material fact, and the petition may be decided 

as a matter of law.” Id.: Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Mun. Regulations, § 8.22.110(G). 

In this case, Owner did not properly complete the Owner Response initially, did not file the 

second Response in a timely manner, did not include the required prerequisites to filing an 

Owner Response, and most importantly, failed to raise a genuine dispute as to any material fact, 

for all of the reasons that will be discussed below. As a result, the Hearing Officer was well 

within her authority to issue a decision without a hearing. 

000135



 

4 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Furthermore, the Rent Adjustment Program generally falls within those requirements of 

California civil law. There are a variety of well-established legal principles that allow a judge 

or fact finder to reach a decision without a hearing, and some even without evidence. Examples 

include decisions on motions for judgment on the pleadings, motions for summary judgment, 

and motions for summary adjudication. See, e.g., Cal. Code Civ. P. §§ 438, 437c. Merely filing 

a Response, especially one that fails to raise any genuine dispute over any material fact, does 

not guarantee either a tenant or a property owner a hearing. The Hearing Officer’s 

Administrative Decision does not constitute a denial of Owner’s opportunity to be heard. 

B. The 2022 Rent Increase 

The 2022 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and properly invalidated by 

the Hearing Officer. The 2022 Rent Increase, which required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,300 per month to $1,500 per month, did not meet multiple requirements 

under the Oakland Municipal Code. 

First, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include a RAP Notice, which is required 

under Oakland law. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Tenant provided sufficient evidence to 

the Hearing Officer to demonstrate this deficiency. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Owner does not dispute this fact, and has not disputed this deficiency in either the first Owner 

Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response, or in Owner’s Appeal. As such, the 2022 

Rent Increase Notice is invalid. 

Second, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include the rent increase moratorium 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font as required by the Oakland Moratorium. See id. 

Owner contends that “According to page 3 of the Proof of Service from the tenant [sic], it is 

stated that the notice of rent increase is not in bold, or 12 point font, which is false. We 

specifically bolded the notice of rent increase statement, and used 12 point font on both letters.” 

See Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner misunderstands the Administrative Decision and the Oakland 

Moratorium. Under the Oakland Moratorium, Owner is required to provide the following 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font: 

000136



 

5 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

“During the Local Emergency declared by the City of Oakland in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), unless required for the 
landlord to obtain a fair return. You may contact the Rent Adjustment 
Program at (510) 238-3721 [sic] for additional information and referrals.” 

Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Owner did not include this statement in the 2022 Rent Increase. 

Instead, the only text that were provided in bolded font were “Notice of Rent Increase,” 

“Address,” and “Mead Holding LLC” letterhead. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Third, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice provided for a $200 increase, which equates to an 

increase of over 15%. Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. This is well above the 3% CPI 

Rent Adjustment allowed by the City of Oakland for the relevant time period. 

Fourth, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice stated that the increase was justified “due to high 

inflation rates that include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as 

maintenance in addition to other factors.” See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. Owner 

confirms such rationale in the Owner Appeal, stating that Tenant’s rent “would be increased 

from $1,300 to $1,500 due to increased operating expenses.” See Owner Appeal, p. 5. Owner 

argues that such an increase is justifiable, as the Oakland Municipal Code allows rent increases 

to exceed the CPI Rent Adjustment. Id. The Oakland Moratorium, however, prohibits rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment on the basis of increased operating expenses 

during the Local Emergency. Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Further analysis of Owner’s 

misinterpretation of rent increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment is discussed in Section 

D, infra. 

For the foregoing reasons, the 2022 Rent Increase was properly found invalid. 

C. The 2019 Rent Increase 

The 2019 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and was properly held by the 

Hearing Officer to be invalid. The 2019 Rent Increase required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per month, in excess of the allowable CPI Rent 

Adjustment; the rent increase did not meet requirements under the Oakland Municipal Code; 

and the rent increase was not a rent set back. 

000137



 

6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 1. The 2019 Rent Increase Did Not Include the RAP Notice 

It is undisputed that the 2019 Rent Increase did not include the legally required RAP 

Notice. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Owner provided only the rent increase 

notice, itself, along with a printout from the Rent Adjustment Program website. Tenant has 

provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate this deficiency. Owner does not dispute the fact 

that no RAP notice was included with the 2019 Rent Increase, and has not disputed this fact in 

either the Owner Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response; or in the Owner Appeal. 

In his Appeal filing, Owner states, “At the inception of their tenancy, we provided the 

tenants with a RAP notice. The tenants claiming that they were not able to retain the notice that 

was provided to them may be due to the fact that they moved in 10 years ago.” This statement 

is problematic for several reasons. 

First, the allegation that Owner provided Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of 

their tenancy is false. Tenant has stated in her Petition, under penalty of perjury, that she was 

never provided with a RAP Notice. See Tenant Petition, T23-0019. Tenant has not wavered 

from this assertion. Owner, on the other hand, has repeatedly changed his story, and has 

provided no evidence to support his false statement at any stage of this case. In the Owner 

Response dated January 31, 2023, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the 

box stating: “I have never provided a RAP Notice.” See Owner Response (Jan. 31, 2023). In the 

second Owner Response, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the box 

stating: “I do not know if a RAP Notice was ever provided.” See Owner Response (Mar. 31, 

2023). Owner now claims to have provided a RAP Notice at the inception of Tenant’s tenancy, 

contradicting Owner’s prior assertions and without providing any evidence to support his 

claim. Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner has contradicted himself, under oath, and has not provided 

any evidence to support this claim. Accordingly, the Hearing Officer correctly found that 

Tenant was not given a RAP Notice at the beginning of her tenancy.  

Second, Owner misunderstands the notice requirement. While a RAP Notice is required 

to be provided at the inception of a tenancy, a RAP Notice is also required to be provided with 

000138



 

7 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

each rent increase notice. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Even if Owner had provided 

Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of her tenancy, Owner would still be required to 

provide additional RAP Notices concurrently with rent increase notices. Owner did not provide 

the required RAP Notice with the 2019 Rent Increase and has not disputed this fact. Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Tenant has provided sufficient evidence for the Hearing Officer 

to find that Owner failed in his duty to provide the required notice. 

 2. The Increase Amount Exceeded That Allowed by Law 

The 2019 Rent Increase imposed an increase from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per 

month, which equates to an increase of 30%. This rent increase is illegal on its face. The 2019 

CPI Rent Adjustment was 3.5%. Moreover, the Oakland Municipal Code restricts rent 

increases based on CPI Rent Adjustments to no more than 10% in any 12-month period, and no 

more than 30% over any period of five years. § 8.22.070(A)(2)-(3). A rent increase of 30% is 

clearly improper, and the 2019 Rent Increase was correctly held to be invalid. 

 3. The 2019 Rent Increase was an Increase and Not a Set Back 

Owner’s contention that the 2019 Rent Increase should be considered a rent “set back” 

is without merit. Tenant denies Owner’s account of an agreement of services in exchange for a 

rent reduction. Owner did not raise this issue in either of his two Owner Responses, and has 

provided no evidence to support such an allegation. In fact, Owner, himself, contradicts this 

characterization of the rent increase in the actual 2019 Rent Increase Notice. 

In his Appeal, Owner provides that “the tenants and I had an agreement when they first 

moved in that the monthly rent would be $1,300, but if they were to pull out the garbage bins 

every Monday for all 6 units, and keep the front and backyard clean, then they would pay 

$1,000.” Owner Appeal, p. 2. Owner states that such agreement was “verbal.” Id. at p. 3. 

Tenant denies the existence of such an agreement. Tenant’s rental rate when she moved 

into the property in 2013 was $1,000 per month. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental 

rate from $1,300 to $1,000 per month in exchange for services to Owner or at the subject 

property. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental rate in exchange for services to Owner or 

000139



 

8 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

at the subject property, either verbally or in writing. Owner has provided no evidence to 

support his claim that such an agreement existed, and Owner did not raise this argument at the 

proper time: in his Owner Response to the Tenant Petition. 

Owner also states that: “In 2019, we provided the tenants with a 60 day notice that the 

rent would return to its original amount of $1,300 because they were no longer providing their 

services.” See Owner Appeal, p. 3, ¶ 2. The 2019 Rent Increase Notice, however, includes no 

such language about the alleged services. Instead, the 2019 Rent Increase Notice states: “The 

rental increases will be applied due to high inflation rates that include the increase of property 

and city tax, water, garbage, and other maintenance in addition to many other factors.” Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2 (emphasis added). The 2019 Rent Increase Notice does not 

include any mention of services, of an agreement, or of a set back. Moreover, the 2019 Rent 

Increase Notice uses almost the exact same language that Owner used in the 2022 Rent 

Increase. See id. at Exh. T1 (“The increase in rent will be applied due to high inflation rates that 

include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as maintenance in addition to 

other factors”). Owner is attempting to characterize the 2019 Rent Increase as a rent set back, 

however all evidence demonstrates that the 2019 Rent Increase was merely an unlawful rent 

increase. 

Owner further contradicts his set back argument, stating in the 2019 Rent Increase 

Notice, “Please take into consideration that rent has been $1,000 for the past 10+ years with no 

increases. The California State Law allows property owners to defer applying annual rent 

increases for up to 10 years.” Id. at Exh. T2 (emphasis added). Owner was clearly attempting to 

bank multiple years’ worth of rent increases into a single, illegal rent increase. The fact that 

Owner could have increased rent lawfully during that time period does not allow Owner to do 

so illegally by increasing Tenant’s rent by an unlawful amount and without proper notice. 

Owner is either being misleading, or mischaracterizing the 2019 Rent Increase by asserting that 

it was based on a set back rather than what it actually was: an illegal rent increase. 

000140



 

9 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

D. Owner Is Not Allowed to Implement Rent Increases Over CPI and Banking 

Without Following Proper Procedure 

Owner contends that he should be allowed to increase rent beyond CPI for a number of 

ill-defined reasons. Owner reasons that “Capital improvements to a building shall be passed on 

to the tenant as a prorated charge. A landlord is able to increase the rent due to capital 

improvements to the building.” Owner Appeal, p. 2-3, ¶ 6. Owner later states that “[R]ent 

increases that exceed the CPI increase may be justified” for a series of reasons. Id. p. 5. Yet 

again, Owner misunderstands legal rent increases allowed under the Oakland Municipal Code 

and the Oakland Moratorium. 

The Oakland Municipal Code does allow for property owners to increase rent by an 

amount in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment for reasons including capital improvements, 

uninsured repair costs, and increased housing costs. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(C). A 

property owner who seeks an increase based on any ground other than the CPI Rent 

Adjustment or Banking, however, “must first petition the Rent Program and receive approval 

for the Rent Increase before the Rent Increase can be imposed.” Id. Property owners “may 

increase rents only for increases based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking, or by filing a 

petition to increase rent in excess of that amount.” Id. at § 8.22.065(A). While a property owner 

is not prohibited from increasing a tenant’s rent in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment, 

the property owner must follow proper procedures in order to do so. “Any rent increase not 

based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking that is not first approved by the Rent Adjustment 

Program is void and unenforceable.” Id. 

Furthermore, the Oakland Moratorium specifically prevents almost all types of rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment. See Oakland Moratorium, § 4 (“[A]ny rent 

increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment . . . shall be void and unenforceable if the notice 

is served or has an effective date during the Local Emergency, unless required to provide a fair 

return.”). 

000141



 

10 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

In the present case, Owner did not file a petition with the Oakland Rent Adjustment 

Program before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner did not receive approval from 

the Rent Adjustment Program to impose a rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment 

before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner instead took it upon himself to increase 

Tenant’s rent by an unconscionable amount on two separate occasions without following 

established and legally required procedures. 

E. Owner’s Appeal Includes Allegations and Arguments That Lie Beyond the 

Scope of the Underlying Petition and this Appeal 

Matters on appeal are limited in their scope. The Rent Adjustment Program Regulations 

contain an enumerated list of grounds for appeal. See, e.g., Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

Regulations; Oakland Municipal Code § 8.22.120. As a general rule, Appeals should not 

conduct evidentiary hearings or consider the introduction of new evidence. See Oakland Rent 

Adjustment Program Regulations. 

Here, Owner attempts to include a number of arguments and accompanying evidence 

that lie well beyond the scope of the underlying Petition, and bear no relevance to this case. 

Specifically, the following allegations are irrelevant with regard to whether or not the 2019 and 

2022 Rent Increases were proper and legal: whether or not Owner requested that tenants at the 

property pull out their own garbage bins, whether or not Owner decided to begin cleaning 

around the property, whether or not Tenant had an extra refrigerator, the number of persons 

living within the subject property, whether or not a fire department violation occurred, and 

whether or not Tenant’s family used multiple parking spaces. Owner Appeal, p. 2, ¶¶ 1-5. 

Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s allegations. 

Additionally, Owner’s table of Increased Housing Service Costs is similarly irrelevant 

for the purposes of this appeal. The issue of whether or not Owner incurred increased costs falls 

outside of the scope of the Tenant Petition and of this Appeal. Furthermore, Owner has 

provided no evidence to support his claim that he incurred increased housing costs aside from 

000142



 

11 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

the table, itself. Owner Appeal, p. 4. Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s 

contention regarding increased housing costs. 

Owner did not raise these allegations or arguments in either of his two Owner 

Responses, and they should not be considered in, and are not relevant to, this Appeal. 

F. Owner’s Allegation of Fraud Is False and Improper 

Tenant included in her Tenant Evidence Submission a letter, dated July 5, 2022 and 

signed by Owner. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T4. The purpose of including the 

letter in the Tenant Evidence Submission was to provide further evidence that Tenant was 

current on her rental payments. 

In his Owner Appeal, Owner alleges that Tenant “fraudulently used immigration as an 

excuse to receive a recommendation letter from me, that is now being used against me.” Owner 

Appeal, p. 5. 

Tenant denies defrauding Owner. Tenant did not request the letter for any purposes 

other than those that Tenant made Owner aware of at the time of her request. Tenant was 

truthful in her request, and has been honest and consistent throughout the entirety of this action. 

Unless Owner is admitting to having committed fraud by lying in his letter, no fraud occurred. 

Tenant reserves the right to pursue Owner on any and all claims related to Owner’s baseless 

allegation of fraud. 

G. The April 12, 2023 Hearing Was Not Canceled Without Proper Notice 

Owner contends that the Hearing for the underlying Petition was “canceled without 

proper notice.” Owner Appeal, p. 5. As discussed in Section A, supra, the Hearing Officer did 

not act improperly in issuing a ruling by Administrative Decision. The cancelation of the 

Hearing was properly noticed in the Hearing Officer’s decision, served on the Parties on April 

6, 2023, by Analyst Brittni Lothlen. See T23-0019 Administrative Decision, p. 4, ¶ 4. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, the Appeals Board should find affirm the Hearing 

Officer’s decision to grant the Tenant Petition. 

000143



12 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: May 2, 2023 CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 

By: 
Gregory T. Ching
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan

000144



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721
CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as
the person(s) served.

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s)
served.

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document
you are filing and any attachments you are serving.

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP.

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

I served a copy of: 

TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT 
OF TENANT PETITION IN
  PETITION CASE NO.:T23-0019    _______________________
(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents

and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as
listed below.

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with
some person not younger than 18 years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 
Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

X

    0

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St. Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

   (12 pages)

CITY OF OAKLAND 

000145

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000146



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on _ / /  (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

  

Israel Lepiz

05/02/23t J 

000147



05/24/2023 Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC

Att: Hearing of Appeal

Case Number: T23-0019

Notice of Appeal
I, the appealing party, would like to present to you why the appeal should be granted.

We are challenging the decision made by the rent board because at the inception of

their tenancy [2012], we agreed that the rent would be $1,300. However, we verbally

agreed that if they were to pull out all 6 garbage bins for weekly garbage pick up, keep

the front and backyards clean, and have the storage room, then they would pay $1,000

ONLY if they were able to hold up their end of the agreement.

1. Tenants built an extra structure without landlord approval, and the fire department

sent the landlord a notice of violation because the structure was unpermitted. We

were fined, and I, as the landlord, had to pay, and remove the structure.

2. We provided them with a free storage room, but they DID NOT notify us that they

would plug in refrigerators, and other equipment to the house meter using

extension cords [big fire hazard].

Also, the tenants exceeded the agreed occupancy of 5 people for a 2 bedroom

unit, as they had up to 7 people living in the unit. We never complained when

PG&E and EBMUD rates increased.

3. Each unit has ONE parking spot allocated to them for their use, but have

continued to park their vehicles in prohibited areas around the building.

4. We have made capital improvements to the building, and specifically their unit

such as: New roof, New windows, New balcony door, and other improvements to

ensure that our tenants have the best living space possible. These improvements

cost us over $40,000.

000148



According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

5. All in all, the rent was not increased for 7 years [2012 - 2018]. In 2019, the rent

was not increased, rather it was set back to its original amount because their

services were no longer provided. We gave the tenants a 60 day written notice

notifying them that their rent payable would be set back the amount that was

agreed upon initially, $1,300.

According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

Closing Statement: San Francisco, and Oakland always favor the tenants. We’re

asking since you are the judge and mediator of this hearing to PLEASE BE FAIR. When

we increased the rent, we increased fairly, not by thousands of dollars, or an

unreasonable amount. We ask that you please take our argument into consideration

and reason with us because living costs continue to increase, and the pandemic was an

uphill battle as mortgages and taxes were still due on a month to month basis, but

tenants were given the opportunity to withhold rent. Ultimately, we are very fair landlords

000149



to our tenants as they have been renting from us for over 10 years now, otherwise they

would not be paying $1,500 per month for a 2 bedroom with parking, and free water

(EBMUD).

000150



1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     June 15, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Kent Qian, Deputy City Attorney 

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in T23-0019, Barragan et al. v. 
Mead Holding LLC 

                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       June 15, 2023 

 

Property Address:   2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, CA 94621 

Appellant/Owner:  Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC 
 
Respondent/Tenants:  Maria Barragan, Reyes Ornelas 
     

BACKGROUND 

 On January 23, 2023, tenants Maria Barragan and Reyes Ornelas filed a Tenant 

Petition contesting the following two rent increases: 

• $1,000 to $1,300, effective December 2019 

• $1,300 to $1,500, effective December 2022 

The Petition indicated that the tenants had never received a copy of the RAP Notice, 

either at the beginning of their tenancy or with either increase. The tenants submitted 22 

pages of documentation in support of their Petition, including copies of the rent increase 

notices and proof of rent payment. 

 On February 1, 2023, owner Ahmed Said of Mead Holding LLC filed a response 

to the Tenant Petition but did not allege any defenses in the response form. The owner 

attached a copy of a business license (expired), but did not include any evidence that 

the owner had paid the RAP service fee. The response also indicated that the owner 

had never provided the tenants with a copy of the RAP Notice. 



2 
 

 On February 28, 2023, RAP staff mailed the owner a Notice of Incomplete Owner 

Response, indicating that the owner was missing a proof of service, proof of payment of 

the business license tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. The Notice indicated 

that the owner had 30 days to submit a completed response. No response to the 

deficiency notice appears in the case file. 

RULING ON THE CASE 

 On April 5, 2023, hearing officer Élan Consuella Lambert issued an 

Administrative Decision, granting the Tenant Petition without a hearing. The rent 

increases were found to be invalid because the tenants never received the required 

RAP Notice, and because the second increase in 2022 was above CPI and did not 

include the notice language required by the Oakland rent increase moratorium. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 On April 18, 2023, the owner filed an appeal of the Administrative Decision on 

the grounds that the owner was denied a sufficient opportunity to respond to the 

tenants’ claim. Among other things, the owner alleged that the increase from $1,000 to 

$1,300 was not an increase, but rather the tenants’ initial rent was $1,300 and was 

discounted to $1,000 in exchange for the tenants taking out the garbage and cleaning 

around the property. The owner also alleged increased housing service costs and other 

claims irrelevant to the case.  

ISSUES 

1. Was it proper to issue an administrative decision granting the Tenant 

Petition? 

 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

I.  Administrative Decisions  

 An administrative decision may be issued when petition or response forms have 
not been properly completed, were untimely, or filing prerequisites have not been met; 
where the petition and response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material facts 
and the petition may be decided as a matter of law; or where the property was 
previously issued a certificate of exemption and is not challenged by the tenant. OMC 
8.22.110F.  

II. Owner Filing Requirements   

 In order to file a response to a tenant petition or file a petition seeking a rent 
increase, an owner must submit the following: evidence of possession of a current 
business license, evidence of payment of the RAP fee, evidence of service of the RAP 



3 
 

notice on covered units, a completed response form, documentation supporting the 
owner’s claim of exemption or justification for the rent increase, and proof of service of 
the response on the tenant. OMC 8.22.090B.  

III. Service of RAP Notice 

 Owners are required to serve tenants with a copy of the RAP Notice at the 
beginning of the tenancy and together with any rent increase. Failure to do so renders a 
rent increase invalid. O.M.C. 8.22.060, 8.22.070H, 8.22.090A(1)(c)-(d). 

IV. Rent Increase Moratorium 

 Oakland’s rent increase moratorium, which was in effect as of December 2022, 
limits rent increases to CPI and requires certain language to be included in rent 
increase notices. 

 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Hearing Officer’s decision 
finding the rent increases invalid be upheld. The owner’s response was incomplete and 
remained incomplete after the owner was provided with notice and 30 days to submit 
the required documentation. Both the Tenant Petition and the owner response indicate 
that the tenants were not provided with a RAP Notice. Therefore, failure to provide a 
RAP Notice is undisputed. Additionally, the December 2022 increase from $1,300 to 
$1,500 exceeds the allowable CPI and does not comply with Oakland’s rent increase 
moratorium.  

 The owner’s claims of capital improvements and increased housing service costs 
are misguided. Owners are required to file petitions seeking approval from RAP in order 
to impose increases based on capital improvements and/or increased service costs. 
The other claims raised on appeal are irrelevant to the issue of whether the challenged 
rent increases were valid, and the appeal does not provide any explanation or 
justification (i.e. good cause) as to why the owner’s response was incomplete.  

 
 


	Board Agenda 6.22.2023.pdf
	HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD
	FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING
	June 22, 2023
	5:30 P.M.
	CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1
	ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA
	OAKLAND, CA 94612
	AGENDA

	Board Minutes Full Board Meeting 5.11.2023.pdf
	HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD FULL BOARD MEETING

	RAP Regulations Recommendations 0601.pdf
	Approved as to form and legality
	Proposed Amendments to the Rent Adjustment Regulations Sections 8.22.020-040, 8.22.070, 8.22.090-120, and Appendix A. (additions are shown as double underline and deletions are shown as strikethrough):
	8.22.030  EXEMPTIONS.
	A.  Dwelling Units That Are Not Covered Units
	B.  Types of Dwelling Units Exempt
	C.  Certificates of Exemption

	8.22.040  THE BOARD.
	A.  Meetings
	B.  Quorum and Voting
	C.  Officers
	D.  Standing Committees

	8.22.060  NOTICE OF THE EXISTENCE OF CHAPTER 8.22 REQUIRED AT COMMENCEMENT OF TENANCY.
	8.22.070  RENT ADJUSTMENTS FOR OCCUPIED COVERED UNITS.
	A.  Purpose
	B.  CPI and Banking Rent Adjustments
	C.  Justifications for a Rent Increase in Excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking

	8.22.090  PETITION AND RESPONSE FILING PROCEDURES.
	A.  Filing Deadlines
	B.  Tenant Petition and Response Requirements
	C.  Owner Petition and Response Requirements
	D.  Time of Hearing and Decision
	E.  Designation of Representative

	8.22.100  MEDIATION OF RENT DISPUTES.
	A.  Availability of Mediation
	B.  Procedures
	C.  Postponements of Mediations Before Hearing Officers

	8.22.110  HEARING PROCEDURE.
	A.  Postponements
	B.  Absence Of Parties
	C.  Record Of Proceedings
	D.  Translation
	E.  Conduct Of Hearings Before Hearing Officers
	F.  Decisions Of The Hearing Officer
	G.  Administrative Decisions

	8.22.120  APPEALS.
	A.  Statement of Grounds for Appeal and Supporting Documentation
	B.  Grounds for Appeal
	C.  Postponements
	D.  Procedures at Appeal Hearings
	E.  Record Of Proceedings
	F.  Evidentiary Hearings
	G.  Appeal Decisions
	H. Dismissal of Appeal
	I. Failure to Appear


	Chron. Case Report and Case Docs_T23-0019, Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC.pdf
	Chron. Case Report- T23-0019.pdf
	Tenant Petition.pdf
	Owner Response.pdf
	Tenant Evidence.pdf
	owner.pdf
	Admin Decision.pdf
	Owner Appeal.pdf
	Tenant Respondent Brief.pdf

	Board Agenda 6.22.2023.pdf
	HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD
	FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING
	June 22, 2023
	5:30 P.M.
	CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1
	ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA
	OAKLAND, CA 94612
	AGENDA




